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Monday, May 14, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning.  We are reconvening in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501.  This is day 7 of the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  Today we will continue the cross‑examination of panel 4.


The issue we are dealing with this morning is issue 3.4, the proposal regarding the treatment of supply mix projects in rate base.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  I have a correction for the transcript for May 11th.  In my opening remarks on May 11th, page 1, line 5, I said it was day 7 of the hearing.  It was actually day 6 of the hearing.  It just seemed longer.  This should be corrected on the record.


Are there any other preliminary matters?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I have one.  Thank you very much.


I have taken the liberty once again of placing before the Board an answer to an undertaking.  This is Exhibit K, tab 2, schedule 6, and this is the response to the question I believe from Mr. Rupert concerning the aging of the assets and where the evidence might be found to support that proposition.  


And an attempt has been made to put it all in one place for you, sir, so thank you.  I should say this, there is a typographical error that you will notice in the first paragraph.  It says "the propose of this undertaking".  It should be "the purpose of this undertaking", obviously.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  I thought I would file it rather than recopy it.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Any other preliminary matters?  We left off mid-way through Ms. Campbell's cross‑examination on Friday, and therefore we will continue with you now, Ms. Campbell.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I hope it is not midway, Madam Chair.  I really hope it is much closer to the end, and I think the panel does, too.  Just before we start, there is something I should have mentioned as a preliminary matter.  


On Friday, a number of FERC cases were filed in a binder.  They were not organized in any particular fashion.  They are about to be joined by a bundle that are four in number that are actually the cases that are referred to in Hydro One's prefiled evidence.


The suggestion that I have canvassed with Mr. Rogers, and which he agrees with me appears to be a sound and logical one, is to have all of the FERC cases, either those filed by Hydro One or those filed by Board Staff, placed into a single binder, organized chronologically and prefaced by a tab that indicates where each one is.  


So we think that is an astonishing step forward, and we are going to ‑‑ I am going to ask Mr. Thiessen to hand up to the Panel the four copies.  The thick one on the top is the original final order; that is Order 679.


I will be making reference, in all likelihood, to one paragraph in that order, and I don't know what my friends intend to do, but shortly thereafter, either during a break or something, organization into the binders will take place.


All of those cases, as a result, become part of the exhibit that is the binder that was filed on Friday.  So they become part of that, and that is L6 ‑‑ we're going to make that L6 point -- 


MS. NOWINA:  L4 and L5 were both FERC cases.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  Why don't we make the binder itself L6.6 ‑‑ sorry, L7.1, will be the binder that contains it all, with the index.



MS. NOWINA:  Then we will have the transcripts on Friday referring to L6.4 and L6.5, which might be a little confusing.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Why don't we make it then just L6.4/5, which will encompass all of the cases that were put in?  We need another number.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.


EXHIBIT NO. L6.4/L6.5:  TOTALITY OF FERC CASES, 

TOGETHER WITH FINAL ORDER

MS. CAMPBELL:  But we are handing up four today.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Which consist of the original final order, which is on top, and the three other cases, I believe the original Allegheny case, the original American Energy Case and the original Duquesne case.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will mark those as being part of L6.4/L6.5, which eventually will be filed in binder format?


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  And it will simply be a collection of all of the FERC cases in one place.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4, Resumed


Ian Innis, Previously Sworn


William Paolucci, Previously Sworn

Andy Poray, Previously Sworn

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL (Continued):

MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, moving to some questions.  Mr. Innis, I just want to follow up and clarify something that occurred towards the end of Friday.


If you have the transcript from Friday, it would probably make it much easier for you.  Page 150 of Friday, Friday's transcript, starting at line 11, line 11 to line 25.  I would just like to clarify something.


This was a question concerning the ROE, and your answer -- my question had been to try to figure out whether the ROE of 10.5 percent, which is being put forward by Ms. McShane, took into account the four supply mix projects that you had discussed.  And your answer to me was that Ms. McShane was aware and I am reading right now your answer:

"It would be appropriate to take those into account when we put together this proposal.  Hydro One already did.  The supply mix treatment is separate from the ROE, and by that I mean when the ROE was calculated by Ms. McShane, she was aware of our supply mix proposal and she took that into consideration and she assumed that the supply mix proposal would be implemented and therefore she struck with an ROE ‑‑ struck an ROE with that in mind.  If the supply mix treatment is not implemented, then that would give cause to Ms. McShane to re-evaluate her ROE."


So pausing there, Mr. Innis, am I correct, then, that there is a possibility -- if the Board does not accept your proposal and the four projects do not go into supply mix, there is a possibility that the ROE could be higher than 10.5 percent?


MR. INNIS:  There is a possibility that would be the case.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  I will save any other questions on that for Ms. McShane.


Now I would like to turn to a couple of interrogatories and a question concerning what you've referred to as the neutral bottom line, and this brings up a handful of interrogatories.  


The first one is Board Staff Interrogatory 103, so that's J‑1-103.  This also references ‑‑ let me just -- this also references D1, tab 1, schedule 4, page 16 and 17, and it deals with rate smoothing and reduced rate impact.


And the first interrogatory that deals with this ‑‑ sorry.  Let me set the scene for this.  On page 16 and 17, there is text concerning the inclusion of project expenditures.  This is starting at line 20 on page 16:

"The inclusion of project expenditures into rate base as they are incurred contributes to a smoothing and potential lowering of customer rates."


Then there is a further explanation, and then we go over to a diagram that shows -- figure 1 shows the AFUDC approach versus the PERBI approach, and there is an example of the rate smoothing.  


And in the interrogatory asked by Staff, which is J‑1-103, a question was prompted by the fact that the text on page 16 says the proposal will result in a "neutral bottom line impact for the utility."


Then carrying on to page 17 at line 2, the figure was "developed with information from an NARUC rate-making course," and the figure "provides an illustrative example of the impact upon rates of the proposal."


And the question posed in the January 29th, 2007 IR was whether the reference to neutral bottom line impact was one that was theoretical, or whether a quantitative analysis had been performed to support the position.


And at that time, January 29th, 2007, no analysis had been undertaken.  Can you advise if, since that time, there has been a quantitative analysis to establish that it is, in fact, a neutral bottom line impact in reality and not just in theory?  


MR. INNIS:  There has been no detailed quantitative analysis of the impact.  The evidence -- our position is consistent with the evidence, in that it is a theoretical and neutral bottom line impact.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  When you said no detailed quantitative analysis, is there a non-detailed quantitative analysis?  Or is there simply no quantitative analysis?  


MR. INNIS:  The analysis that we have in the evidence is what we have and there is no detailed financial analysis to support that.  It's a theoretical argument that would take into consideration the impacts of lower AFUDC and smoothing out over time the impacts.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  The next interrogatory that deals with this same matter is an interrogatory by Schools and it is Exhibit J-7-27.  That's Exhibit J, tab 7, schedule 27.  


What I am looking at in particular is found on page 1.  And the question that was posed was in paragraph b).  This interrogatory cited the evidence that said:  

"...this proposal will result in the overall lowering and smoothing of rate impacts to customers with the added benefit of a positive impact upon credit ratings and borrowing costs.  


And the question was:  

Has Hydro One estimated the impact that this proposal will have on credit rating and borrowing costs..." 


and, if so, to provide details.  


And the answer is found on page 2 of that interrogatory and the response is marked b): 

"Hydro One has not estimated the impact that this proposal would have on credit rating and borrowing costs."  


And my question to you is whether -- since you have answered that undertaking, has such an analysis been done?  That is, have you estimated the impact that the proposal will have on credit rating and borrowing costs?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Yes.  There has been no analysis, in terms of the impact on borrowing costs.  The main concern, from a rating agency point of view, around these projects is really the mitigation of any risks surrounding the project costs, that rating agencies would become very concerned if these projects are abandoned and there is no cost recovery.  


Because cost recovery is really a fundamental credit strength of the company, which would be undermined.  And investors would become concerned if the company is seen to be used as an instrument of public policy.  And those goals are not consistent with maintaining the financial health of the company.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  But you have not done an analysis of that, right?  This is an estimate, in your -- it's a theoretical belief that you have, that it will affect your credit rating?  There hasn't been an analysis to establish that? 


MR. PAOLUCCI:  The additional cash flow associated with inclusion of the rate base would provide additional -- an increase to the interest coverage ratios going forward.  I guess that would be seen to be supportive of credit quality, and that would send a strong message to the credit rating agencies, that the OEB is supportive of the company and credit quality.  But there has not been a specific quantitative analysis done.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you explain to me how the Board is to evaluate your proposal and provide approval, if these things are theoretical only and there is no evidence on which to base your statements?  You have not undertaken an analysis, in other words.  


What should the Board be looking at to get the comfort that they need in order to provide such an approval?  


MR. INNIS:  Any analysis would require assumptions, and estimates, and it would be very difficult to quantify the impact of what certain decisions would have on behaviour, especially in the investment community.  


We know from historical, historical dealings with the investment community, they look favourably upon our ability to earn a return and they look favourably upon our ability to recover costs, so we are relying on standard financial behaviours that we've had experienced in the past with the investment communities.  


So it is difficult -- while it is difficult to quantify specifically the impact, we know that directionally these things are looked upon favourably.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  I have one other question on -- using another interrogatory in the same area, which is a VECC interrogatory.  It is J-5-93.  


It's on page 1 of that interrogatory.  The question that was asked was for an explanation by Hydro One of the statement that the bottom line impact for the utility is neutral.  


And the answer was:  

If Hydro One uses an AFUDC rate that is less than the allowed rate-of-return on -- I'm sorry.  I'm reading -- I apologize.  I have skipped, in my eye, jumped down.  


So I was reading the wrong line.  I apologize.  Starting with 1, the application states, and this is 1, on the interrogatory J-5-93:  

"The application states... that the bottom line impact for the utility is neutral.  Please explain this statement."  


Then the second question is:  

"Please also indicate whether the statement is correct if the rate used for AFUDC is less than the Return on Rate Base."  

And the answer to that was:  

"If Hydro One uses an AFUDC rate that is less than the allowed rate of the rate base, the Company may be slightly better off financially as a result of including the Supply Mix capital spending in rate base prior to the completion of the projects."  


So the question that arises is:  Is it neutral or would Hydro One, in fact, be better off financially?  


MR. INNIS:  It's very close to being neutral, and we don't have the numbers specifically quantified.  So that's why we've had to -- rather than be precise, we have said that it is neutral.  It could be slightly better off as well, but it would not be expected to be materially different.  


The lower AFUDC or stopping the AFUDC on the project would result in a lower overall capital cost of that project.  So by allowing the treatment to be put into rate base as spent, the overall project costs would be lower, and therefore, over time, through depreciation, that would be lower as well.  


So that's why we said it would be expected to be neutral, but I would accept also the fact that it perhaps could be slightly, slightly in the company's favour.  However the reason we're doing or asking for this proposal is not so much to be advantaged, but in order to be able to mitigate risks for the company and sending the message that we're concerned about our future ability to earn a return on these assets.


So we're not trying to be financially advantaged in the short term, we're trying to mitigate the risks of undertaking this project over the long term.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  On Friday, when we were discussing the FERC cases, I did not have a copy of the original final order, which is Order 679, and it was just filed this morning.  And there is a paragraph in the original final order that I wish to make reference to.  


I want to make sure that the panel, the witness panel -- you have copies?  It's paragraph 21, which is on page 13.  And the paragraph reads as follows:

"The incentives adopted by this final rule are properly understood only in the context of the traditional regulatory principles they seek to further.  The long‑standing rule is that utility rate regulation must adequately balance both consumer and investor interests.  It is not enough to ensure that the investors are properly compensated and it is not enough to ensure that consumers are protected against excessive rates.  Our policies must ensure both outcomes and, in doing so, strike the appropriate balance between these twin objectives.  In striking that balance, the courts have recognized that there is no single formula for establishing a just and reasonable rate.  Rather, the test is whether the end result is just and reasonable."


And, similarly, in Ontario, the Board's objective is to make a decision in the public interest and, I would suggest to you, also balance the utility's interests with those of consumers.


Do you agree with me?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.


MS. CAMPBELL:  I needed to take a breath.  Thank you.


So based on that understanding, that there is a balancing, can you explain how shifting the four supply mix projects into rate base and eliminating risk is, in fact, ‑‑ on four projects that I suggest to you that you are obligated to undertake, how is that in the public interest and how does that strike the balance that we were just discussing?


MR. INNIS:  Certainly, the balancing the public interest is a very important point in the context of the overall rate case.  I definitely agree with that.  

In the context of the specific four supply mix projects, the special treatments for these projects that we're asking for benefits the customers, I see, in two ways.  


It benefits the customers by having a lower capital cost in rate base, because we are no longer charging allowance for funds used during construction.  It benefits the customers by avoiding a rate shock when that project comes in service, spreading out the costs over time.  That avoids a big one‑time declaration of that project being in service and a jump in rates to the customers at that time.


It also benefits the customers by sending a very strong message to the investment community, whereby the company is given assurance of recovery of these costs.  That looks favourably on our credit rating and it sends a positive message to people that would be assessing our creditworthiness and coming up with a rating.  


That rating, in turn, would help to -- help the company to lower its cost of borrowing.  The higher our credit rating, the more favourable the rates that we would be able to borrow at.


So I see those three things as being of benefit to the customer.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you undertake the same analysis with regard to the fact that you're asking for a higher return on equity than you currently have?  


You're asking for 10-1/2 percent, which has taken into account, you tell me, the four supply mix projects in rate base.  So can you tell me how the higher return on equity that you're seeking fits within this balancing between consumers' and utilities' interests?


MR. INNIS:  The higher return on equity was established through Ms. McShane's study, and she took a number of factors into consideration which she will be pleased to go into when she is on the stand.  But she looked at the overall utility position, not just these four supply mix projects, and she will be prepared to justify that.


But she would have looked at the overall company position, the utility position in respect to other companies of similar size and similar type of industry.


So the ROE discussion is separate from the supply mix discussion that we're having here, and Ms. McShane will give full justification for her suggestion of the ROE for the company.


MS. CAMPBELL:  My final question to you is actually a ‑‑ fills in a bit of a hole that was left when I was asking you about the transmission incentives, the financial incentives for transmission projects on Friday.


We established that there weren't any Canadian regulators who were providing special financial incentives.  And we talked about the fact that in the US, the investments in the cases that we were discussing, actually, were private investors.  


And in the US, Hydro One is ‑‑ and you will let me know if you agree with this ‑‑ would be more akin to a public utility like the Tennessee Valley Authority or the Bonneville Power Administration; would you agree?


MR. INNIS:  There are similarities between Hydro One transmission and those companies, yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Are you aware if either the Tennessee Valley Authority or Bonneville Power Administration have received financial incentives akin to those that you're seeking from this Board?  In the context, of course, of the new transmission investments, nothing else.


MR. INNIS:  I'm not specifically aware if they have requested that.  However, my understanding is that the FERC order is relatively recent, and where we are looking at specific precedents in front of us now, I am not aware that -- in the future that perhaps they could be requesting similar treatment, as well.  


This is a fairly new initiative that has been approved, and as it evolves over time, I would expect that other US utilities, whether they be public or private, would also seek to have this special treatment, as well.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So it is possible, but as of today's date you're not aware that they have?


MR. INNIS:  I am not aware that they have them as of today's date.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  Are you aware of ‑‑ we had discussed -- not in this context, but in IRM, there was reference to Ofgem and Australia, et cetera.  Are you aware of any utilities outside North America that have received these additional financial incentives to invest in new transmission projects?


MR. INNIS:  I am personally not aware if there is any that have received these specific types of incentives.  In terms of the regulation in those other countries, there is likely special consideration on a case‑by‑case basis for their circumstances.  


We have been relying on learning from the FERC situation and applying it to a very unique Canadian context.  So that FERC is the primary source of our information and I cannot specifically say if it's anywhere else in the world.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  Can the other intervenors tell me in what order you plan to proceed and give me some time estimates.


MR. RODGER:  I probably have only about ten minutes, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I have 20 minutes to half an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I may have one or two questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  We may have ten minutes of questions, pending the outcome of the others.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. LONG:  None at this point.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stevenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Five, ten minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  All right.  Mr. Buonaguro, shall we go in order from longest to shortest, start with you, and then move to Mr. Rodger, and then pick up everyone else.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure, thank you.


I'm not going to use my audio-visual presentation, because my cross hopefully is not long enough to warrant it.


The first thing I would actually like is clarification to make absolutely sure we understand what the proposal is, and specifically starting I guess from the basics.  You're including for these four specified supply mix projects the capital spending incurred prior to being in-service, you're going to put that capital spending into rate base now, right, 2007, 2008, even though they're not in service, simply put.


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Fine.  And the implication of that is that those costs will be included in the value of rate base for the purposes of determining the cost of capital to be included in the revenue requirement.  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, what we're unsure about, and perhaps you can clarify, is whether or not your proposal has an impact on depreciation charges prior to the project becoming in-service.  


MR. INNIS:  The implication of putting the project in rate base would also have a flow-through impact on depreciation as well.  So if the rate base is higher, that would also increase depreciation, in terms of the calculation for revenue requirement purposes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you tell me where the impact on depreciation for 2007-2008 as a result of this proposal is calculated, or represented in the application.  The evidence.  


MR. INNIS:  It would be a flow-through impact on the calculation of depreciation.  So in terms of the determination of overall revenue requirement, there would be -- it would be reflected in the depreciation portion of the revenue requirement calculation.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So it is in there somewhere, but you can't specify?  


MR. INNIS:  Given a few moments I could find a reference, in terms of the evidence.  But I would have to look that up for you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Do you need it now, Mr. Buonaguro?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  If it's 30 seconds to a minute, then I might as well get it now.  But if it takes longer than that, perhaps we can get an undertaking.  


MR. ROGERS:  I'm anticipating here, and I may be wrong, but if what Mr. Buonaguro wants is a numerical value, I don't think that is in the evidence.  Is it?  Mr. Innis?  


MR. INNIS:  We have a calculation of depreciation in our revenue requirement.  


MR. ROGERS:  No.  But I am anticipating where he is going with this.  Maybe I'm wrong, but maybe we can shorten it. 


MS. NOWINA:  Let it take its course, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Then I will withdraw. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  When I say impact, if the proposal is accepted then the depreciation charges over –- what I think you're saying the depreciation charges over 2007-2008 are changed, presumably increased, and I need to know how much of that increase -- how much is that increase, which is what Mr. Rogers is anticipating. 


MR. INNIS:  Certainly.  So if I can refer to Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1 and there is a line on that page, page 1 of that exhibit.  There is a line that says, "Depreciation and amortization".  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, what page is that?  


MR. INNIS:  This is page 1 of 5. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay. 


MR. INNIS:  On Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1.  So while I can't show you the specific result of the calculation associated with the supply mix projects, what I am showing you is that in aggregate, this is where you would find a reference to depreciation expense.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So some portion of the 246 million for 2007 and 261 million for 2008 is attributable to the early inclusion of these projects?  


MR. INNIS:  It would be flow-through in total, yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if your proposal is rejected, those numbers are lower?  


MR. INNIS:  I would have to check a detailed calculation, but that's the implication.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps then I can take -- perhaps I can take, then, the undertaking to isolate the impact of the early inclusion of this spending for these four supply mix projects in depreciation and amortization.  Is that -- do you understand that question?  


MR. INNIS:  I cannot say specifically if it's flow-through.  I am talking in aggregate, that is the way the model would work. 


MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell Mr. DeVellis [sic], can you calculate for him the amount by which the depreciation expense in those two years would be reduced if the Board does not accept your proposal to include these four projects in rate base?  


MR. INNIS:  I can identify the specific amount of the depreciation associated with those projects. 


MR. ROGERS:  So we will undertake to do that. 


MS. CAMPBELL:  K7.1.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.1:  TO IDENTIFY SPECIFIC AMOUNT OF DEPRECIATION COSTS IN THE TWO YEARS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROJECTS


MR. BUONAGURO:  That leads me to have you confirm -- I am looking at D1, tab 1, schedule 4, page 16.  It is bullet number 2 at lines 13 to 14.  


When you say here that you want the: 

"full recovery of project expenditures in the year they are incurred, provided prudent project and cost management has occurred..."

you actually want to recover the full costs of the projects or at least the cost that you have incurred in the projects before they're in service, as if they're in service?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Now, our understanding of the concerns that lead to this proposal -- and I will just summarize them:  One, you have concerns about borrowing requirements and cash flow; and two, concerns about recovery of project costs if subsequent scope changes, cancellation or abandonment occur as a result of factors outside of your control.  


Why do you need or why are you proposing to recover the full costs of the projects before they're in service when it would seem that the concerns are something less than that?  The concerns appear to be that the borrowing requirements and financing are -- the costs are accumulating and there would seem to be a way to deal with that without putting the whole thing into rate base and treating it as if it's in service.  

Likewise, subsequent scope changes, cancellation or abandonment due to factors outside your control, I would think could be dealt with when those thing happen.  So perhaps you can explain why you have to put the whole thing into rate base and run with it as your proposal would suggest.  


MR. INNIS:  The four supply mix projects we've identified represent a significant amount of risk to the company.  We have an unprecedented capital program and this is new territory for us, in terms of the outlay that is required for these capital projects.  


So we are trying to address a number of risks that we see with these projects, risk of non-recovery of costs certainly being one.  Risk of having a negative impact on credit rating, should we not be able to recover these costs in the future.  And also we are trying to address the risk of, as constructing these projects and then, in the future, having some change in government policy or direction that would lead to these projects not having value for the customer, or to Hydro One from a functionality point of view.  


So we're very concerned about risks associated with project cancellations, delays, matters beyond the direct control or influence of the corporation.  

In good faith, we are undertaking these projects to meet future expansion requirements for generation, such as Bruce, both in terms of nuclear generation and wind power, but we have no assurance that, when this line is constructed a number of years from now, that that energy will be there for us to render this asset fully in service and used.  So these are the types of risks we are trying to address. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  You mentioned a few times the different risks and you characterized it a couple of different ways.  I use the word "scope changes," "cancellation", "abandonment."  I think you used the word "delays" or suddenly the project is no longer useful based on circumstances beyond your control.  


Is there something stopping you from applying for some sort of relief if any of these things happen, as opposed to assuming that they all will happen now by accepting your proposal?


MR. INNIS:  At the time, I would hope that there would be nothing stopping us from applying for that, for abandonment costs, for example.


However, we're seeking this upfront approval before we start this major project, especially for the Bruce projects, in order to send a very -- send a positive message to our credit rating agencies, in terms of the fact that we are trying to address risks that we would not recover these costs.


So I would like to think we would be able to bring forward any costs that we have incurred in those projects down the road.  It is a better message to be sent if we can address the issue upfront, in terms of our ability to recover these costs.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I understand you're asking for this treatment for 2007-2008.  Are we to understand that once ‑‑ that this proposal will go forward in time and that you're basically asking for the Board to approve the inclusion of the total costs of these projects in the future at the same time? 


MR. INNIS:  To the extent that some of these projects would go beyond the 2008 time frame, such as the Bruce projects, then we would expect to be able to continue to include those projects in rate base, as well.  And that would be picked up through the revenue adjustment mechanism that we discussed on Friday.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, Ms. Campbell went through a number of interrogatories related to whether or not your proposal is neutral from a customer perspective, and relying on that discussion, I have I guess one or two follow-up questions.


It would seem, to us, that as opposed to using your proposal and having this, I guess, unintended benefit of attracting the capital rate as opposed to the AFUDC rate and instead of benefitting from the differential, you could, instead, take your interest costs associated with supply mix projects and recover them based on the AFUDC rate, and then expense them as opposed to capitalizing them.  That way you would be protected from those financing costs, rather than putting them into rate base and getting the higher rate.


Now, does that sound, at least theoretically, correct?


MR. INNIS:  In general, in theory, that would allow a higher return for the company over that 2007-2008 period, given that the cost of capital is greater than the AFUDC, and to the extent we can include that higher amount as a current period cost to calculate revenue requirement, that would be the case.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I'm not sure if you ‑‑ if you understood my question, or not.  If you did, then I didn't understand your answer.


The idea behind what I'm suggesting is that instead of getting the higher rate, you would actually expense these at the AFUDC rate and recover them.  And, therefore, you're not getting the higher rate, so it would be, in fact, neutral.  You would be recovering now rather than later, which is I think your concern.  But you wouldn't be getting the higher capital rate, you would be getting the AFUDC rate.


MR. INNIS:  That would address part of the concern, in terms of that would give the company a bit higher cash flow in the short term.


However, that's not the overall concern that we're trying to address here, as well.  That is just one element of it.  And the other element would be the assurance of recovery of these costs in the future, because of those risks that we're facing, that we're concerned about, and the credit rating message, as well.


I don't think that would send quite the same message, in terms of our credit quality, than would be the proposal that we have, although it would address the cash flow issue, in terms of the company would end up receiving slightly higher cash flow in the short term as a result of that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So would you agree with me that that would be, at least economically speaking, neutral from a customer perspective?


MR. INNIS:  Can you explain how you would say that is economically neutral, please.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, customers would be -- customers wouldn't be paying the higher rate.  They would be paying the AFUDC rate.  So they're not paying a higher rate than they would normally.


MR. INNIS:  Sorry, I thought you mentioned that if the company was allowed to put in the weighted average cost of capital and expense that, and then put that in revenue requirements.  I thought that was your initial suggestion for this treatment.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You mentioned that it addresses one part of the problem.  So the other part of the problem is still this ‑‑ I will use a sort of broad term -- abandonment, I guess is the worst case scenario.  Abandonment or related issues problem is still a concern, and this treatment doesn't help you with that.


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  The abandonment is a concern for us, and what you have proposed would not address that.  What you propose would give us some short-term financial compensation, but the issue is really broader than just that that we're trying to address.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.


Now, as I understand it, the Niagara reinforcement project was a late addition to this supply mix proposal; right?


MR. INNIS:  It was put in, in our February update to the evidence; correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Prior to the update, one of the interrogatories from Board Staff ‑ I will give you the reference just so you have it, was J‑1-65 ‑ generally asked you to ensure that there was no double-counting in your filed evidence with respect to the three projects, the other three projects.


And that was confirmed as part of the response to the interrogatory.  I just wanted to follow up that.  Because the Niagara reinforcement project wasn't part of that original filing and, therefore, not checked pursuant to the interrogatory, if perhaps you could give me the same assurance with respect to the Niagara reinforcement project that you gave with respect to the other three projects in this interrogatory.


I can give you the basic question.  It is whether or not the Niagara reinforcement project is included in either the 2007 in‑service additions of $491 million or the 2008 in-service additions of $578 million; and that reference would be D1, 1, 1, page 3, table 2.


MR. INNIS:  Just give us a moment and we will find that for you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. INNIS:  Can you please cite the reference again?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  The table I'm referring to is D1, tab 1, schedule 1, and it is at page 3, table 2.


MR. INNIS:  I can't confirm that Niagara would be included in the rate base for 2007.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps, then, what we can do is maybe you can give me an undertaking and if you could maybe expand the original undertaking at J‑1-65 to refer to the Niagara reinforcement project as well.  So whatever information you gave in that undertaking with respect to the other three projects, you provide it for that one, as well.


MR. INNIS:  Can you just perhaps be more clear, so we can know what information you're asking for?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.


MR. INNIS:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If you can advise whether or not the Niagara reinforcement project is included in either the 2007 in‑service additions or 2008 in‑service additions, which are $491 million and $578 million respectively pursuant to D1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3, table 2 with reference to Board Staff interrogatory J-1-65.  


MR. INNIS:  I could clarify that for you, but perhaps I can just offer a comment and maybe that would be helpful.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  


MR. INNIS:  The Niagara project, I mentioned that would be in rate base.  Rate base, it would be in the starting rate base for January 1, 2007.  It wouldn't be in the in-service additions for 2007, because we're uncertain as to when the remaining spending of that project would take place.  


So the Niagara project would be in the opening balance for 2007, but not in the in-service additions during the year because of the activity.  Does that help?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, it sounds like you're pretty sure that it's not and there is no double-counting.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps if you can just confirm that.  If you can confirm that now, great, and if you -- 


MR. INNIS:  I think I can confirm there is no double-counting.  The Niagara reinforcement was assumed to be, in our initial evidence was assumed to be coming in service in 2006 and because of the delay, it did not come in service in 2006.  


And so what with the special treatment that we have for supply mix projects, the assumption is that it is in the opening rate base for 2007.  


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Innis, can I just clarify the table you're looking at, table 2.  In 2006, there is a row, in-service additions for 2006 are $315 million.  Do you see that?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.  


MR. RUPERT:  Are you saying that that $315 million includes the cost of the Niagara reinforcement?  


MR. INNIS:  I'm just looking at that number.  I would have to confirm that.  I'm saying it would be in rate base.  I would have to check that specific number. 


MR. RUPERT:  If it was going to be in the 2007 opening balance, as you described it, it would have to get in there somehow.  I'm assuming the only way to get in there would be through the 2006 additions.  Maybe you could clarify that. 


MR. INNIS:  I would have to check that for you. 


MS. NOWINA:  Let's take an undertaking.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  K7.2.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.2: to confirm that the Niagara REINFORCEMENT project would be in the opening balance for 2007, but not in the in-service additions during the year because of the activity


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  For that undertaking generally we just want to make sure you're not double-counting. 


MR. INNIS:  I don't believe we are, and we will provide those numbers for you.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  


Actually, I think those are my questions.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  

Mr. Rodger.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Rodger:  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  


Just a few questions, panel.  If I could first turn to how the Board should view this proposal that is being put forward on the supply mix projects.  And by that I mean, you talked about the reasons why you need it, the kind of unique situation you find yourself in, these decisions that are beyond your control that you have to deal with.  


Should we take it, then, that the Board should consider this as just simply another transitional mechanism to deal with this kind of unique situation that the company is facing?  


MR. INNIS:  I'm not sure what you mean by transitional.  Could you -- 


MR. RODGER:  Well that it would only apply to the four supply mix projects, kind of to end 2010, kind of get you through this unique period.  But it is not going to become like kind of standard practice for the corporation to make this kind of application, this gets you through a very kind of difficult and unpredictable period. 


MR. INNIS:  This is very helpful to get us through that specific situation that we talked about, so we're only asking for those four projects at this time.  Going forward in the future, I can't say if we would be coming back to request further treatment for other projects.  There are no plans to do that at this time.  But I would not say that these are the only four projects that we would ever request this specific treatment for. 


MR. RODGER:  So it could be -- if it is approved, it could be a precedent for perhaps future applications?  You're not ruling that out at this point?  


MR. INNIS:  I would not rule it out at this time.  However, if we were to bring projects forward in the future, they would have to stand on their own merits and be evaluated and received for appropriate approvals.  At this time, we are just asking for these specific four projects. 


MR. RODGER:  Perhaps I could ask you, Mr. Innis, from the -- for example, from the IPSP discussion paper on transmission, are there any potential projects that you may see coming out of the IPSP that may qualify for this kind of treatment down the road?  


MR. INNIS:  At this time I am not aware of any that we have specifically considered for this treatment.  


MR. RODGER:  And the reason why I raise this is that there are some projects that have at least been talked about high level, Conawapa, perhaps Labrador that could be significant projects, $1 billion, $2 billion projects.  So we were wondering if those really large ticket initiatives may also come under this consideration at some point, whether that is in your thoughts.  


MR. INNIS:  There is nothing specifically in our thoughts, but I would not categorically say that that is not a possibility.  


MR. RODGER:  Certainly you can't rule it out at this time; is that fair?


MR. INNIS:  It is not being considered but we can't rule it out.  


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now my friend from VECC asked an Undertaking K7.1, and it touched on a theme that I was going to ask you about.  


What we cannot find in the evidence anywhere and which we hoped to ask an undertaking for was to have a table providing both the impact on rate base and the impact of depreciation of revenue requirement from 2006 to 2010 on these four projects.  So on the horizontal axis there would be 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010.  On the vertical you would have the four projects, and then under each yearly column you would have the impact of both of those items between 2006 and 2010.  We haven't found that in the evidence.  And if that would be easy to put together, that would be most helpful so we can kind of get a sense year to year what the impact of this proposal is.  


MR. INNIS:  You mentioned 2010.  The consideration here is for 2007-2008.  


MR. RODGER:  That's right.  As I understand it, the RRAM would also deal with 2009 and 2010 with these projects?  


MR. INNIS:  That would be correct.  


MR. RODGER:  So it would be helpful to have that in one place, both the impact on rate base and then the impact of depreciation on revenue requirement.  


And perhaps it could be just added to the VECC undertaking, if that would be easier.  


MS. NOWINA:  I would rather keep it separate, Mr. Rodger. 


MR. RODGER:  Okay, that's fine, Madam Chair.  


MR. ROGERS:  Can that be done, Mr. Innis, with reasonable effort?  


MR. INNIS:  We could put some -- that information together, yes.  I just want to -- have to understand how to do the 2009 and 2010 given the adjustment mechanism is different from what we do for the 2007 and 2008 revenue requirement.  We would have to put some thought into how to flow that forward. 


MR. ROGERS:  That would be very helpful.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  K7.3.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.3: to provide a table providing both the impact on rate base and the impact of depreciation of revenue requirement from 2006 to 2010 on these four projects.  on the horizontal axis, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010; On the vertical the four projects; and then under each yearly column the impact of both of those items between 2006 and 2010


MR. RODGER:  K7.3, Ms. Campbell?  


MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  


MS. CAMPBELL:  You're welcome.  


MR. RODGER:  Just a couple of questions about the Niagara reinforcement.  I think you confirmed last day that approximately $100 million had already been spent on this project, Mr. Innis; is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  Approximately, yes.  


MR. RODGER:  And as we know, it's the First Nations dispute that is currently the barrier to completion of this project; is that fair?  


MR. INNIS:  That is fair.  


MR. RODGER:  If this situation were to be resolved today, how long would it actually take you to put the Niagara reinforcement into service?  


MR. INNIS:  My understanding is that we have approximately two months' worth of work left to complete construction, in terms of commissioning time or reassembling the construction forces and materials.  It may take a little bit longer, but -- technically I can't say.  But specifically, but in that order of magnitude, I would say. 


MR. RODGER:  So three months or less, potentially?  


MR. INNIS:  Not being a construction person and -- I don't have knowledge where our field staff are right now as far as their ability to leave one project and go to another.  But it would be of that order of magnitude, as opposed to a year, for example.  


MR. RODGER:  And has Hydro One been directly involved in these negotiations with this dispute?  


MR. INNIS:  The dispute is broader in scope than what is impacted by our specific construction project.  So in terms of the broad-based dispute that is underway, that's a federal, provincial government issue.  


We have had discussions, in terms of just our normal practice of contacting people whose land that we would be constructing on.  But in terms of the broader discussions, this dispute is greater in scope than just what impacts the Hydro One construction project.


MR. RODGER:  I guess I was asking of Mr. Innis from the perspective of Hydro One being a critical stakeholder in this debate, in terms of what this project means for overall provincial reliability and so on, how your concerns and voice has been articulated in this dispute, so that all of the parties know what is at stake.  And I am just wondering how that concern has been articulated.


MR. INNIS:  Can we just have a moment?  I am not personally aware, but perhaps my colleagues have some information that would be helpful on that.


MR. RODGER:  Sure.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. INNIS:  In terms of our knowledge, this panel, we're not personally aware of what negotiations have taken place and the company's role in that.


Certainly it is known that we have this construction project that has been deferred, and I am aware that our people have been talking to -- just part of regular negotiations to get this project completed.  But in a broader context, I don't know what discussions have taken place at the federal or provincial level.


MR. RODGER:  I'm asking it from the interests of what Hydro One can do and has been doing to mitigate the risks around this.  So if this is not an area of your responsibility, then ‑‑


MR. INNIS:  My understanding is that we have done what we were capable of doing within the scope of our responsibilities.


MR. RODGER:  Now, there was a very brief discussion, I believe it was with Ms. Campbell on Friday, about the accounting for this approach.  I'm just wondering, is there any implications that the Ontario Energy Board should be aware of in terms of how your proposed treatment of supply mix projects corresponds to the requirements of GAAP?  


Are there any issues that have to be addressed or should be raised?


MR. INNIS:  We're asking for special regulatory treatment. 


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  And regulatory treatment, in some cases, is different than GAAP treatment.  And we would have to think through what those differences would be, as far as in‑service and depreciating assets.


So I see this treatment would lead to some different consideration than what would typically be recognized under GAAP.


MR. RODGER:  I guess you're saying you certainly have identified no barriers where there would be specific problems raised under GAAP?


MR. INNIS:  I don't see any barriers, but there would be some treatment that would have to consider how to appropriately reflect that in GAAP, if this decision is approved as we submit it.  But I would not see that being a barrier to the request for this special treatment.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Now, you have described the rationale, why the company needs to take this approach, and I think we understand there are certain political decisions, government decisions that are certainly beyond your control.  But I take it that at the end of the day, would you agree that what the implication of this proposal is is that it is shifting 100 percent of that political risk onto ratepayers; is that fair?


MR. INNIS:  I wouldn't characterize it as shifting 100 percent of the political risk to ratepayers.  Certainly we're asking for a contribution from ratepayers prior to what they normally would have paid for this project.


We are still undertaking these projects, as far as managing them ourselves, and we take project risk associated with this, which is part of our normal capital construction practice.  We are sharing some of the risks with the customers, is how I would phrase this.


MR. RODGER:  Isn't the bottom line, Mr. Innis -- for example, the Niagara project, let's say hypothetically that situation could never be resolved.  The bottom line is the ratepayers would be on the hook for that 100 million; isn't that true?


MR. INNIS:  We would be looking for compensation for that project and we would apply for recovery for that project from the Board.  So flowing that through, depending on what the outcome would be, we would expect to be compensated for that.


MR. RODGER:  And it would be from ratepayers.  There is no other source of funds out there that would help to contribute to that 100 million.  It would come through rates?


MR. INNIS:  There is no other source of funds.  It would come through rates as opposed to coming from the shareholder.


MR. RODGER:  Now, in this scenario, of course, the political entity, the Province of Ontario, is your shareholder.  Would you agree with me that another approach that the Board might want to consider is that if the shareholder was at risk for some of this money rather than ratepayers, that might put some discipline on the shareholder, in terms of the direction that it gives the utility?  That could be another approach, isn't it?


MR. INNIS:  From Hydro One's perspective, we run the company on a commercial basis...


MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  ...and we would seek to look after the best interests not just of our customers, but also the shareholder, with responsibility in many different stakeholders.  I can't comment on what our shareholders' prerogative may be.


MR. RODGER:  Let me explore that, because as a commercial company - and I hear you on that - but if you were an entirely privately-owned company and a governmental body asked you to incur significant investments, billions of dollars, and you couldn't recoup that, there would likely be a lawsuit, wouldn't there, likely some kind of detrimental reliance on a government direction, and you would look to the government to make you whole?  


In this case, you really can't do that.  Hydro One can't sue the Province of Ontario for perhaps a questionable political decision.


So you are really -- you really can't act like a commercial company, can you, given the situation with your shareholder?


MR. INNIS:  You pose an interesting question and I don't know what our position would be in terms of that.  Certainly it would be most awkward, but I don't know what the outcome of any decision would be that if we chose to do that.  


We would certainly seek remedies, but in terms of what that would mean, as far as our relationship with our shareholder, I don't really know how we would proceed with that.


MR. RODGER:  Sir, do you know if at any time Hydro One has ever raised the issue about obtaining compensation from the Province of Ontario relating to some of these delays or some of these directives from the province over which you have no control, of which you have to commit significant investment?


MR. INNIS:  I'm thinking in the context of what is current, and immediately nothing comes to mind where we sought that type of remedy.  We're looking at these as being new situations here.


MR. RODGER:  Just, finally, it seems that regardless of the issue that any panel speaks about, there is always an asset aging component, and it seems like the asset aging component, after listening to your proposal on supply mix, is -- won't this proposal make the assets appear older than they really are?


For example, you're putting money into rate base as you spend it.  You're depreciating assets before they're into service.  Presumably as soon as you put a deposit down on a piece of new equipment, that's going into the rate base and that is being depreciated.  


Isn't the end result of that to make those assets appear older than they really are, from an accounting point of view, from a tracking point of view?


MR. INNIS:  I believe what you're referring to is how would they be depreciated.  The direction with respect to depreciation would take the physical age and the physical condition of the assets into consideration.


So that would be a separate discussion from what treatment is ‑‑ we would be doing here.  That would be part of a depreciation analysis.  We would look at the overall physical useful remaining service life of those assets.


MR. RODGER:  But in terms of the -- as an example, the undertaking you have given us earlier on, where the depreciation will be for 2006 through to 2010, if an asset isn't in service until 2008, and you've depreciated 2006, 2007, in 2008, won't we have an asset that is depreciated two years, although it is just coming into effect, into service that year?  


And that's what I mean.  The impression is that the asset then is older from an accounting point of view ‑‑


MR. INNIS:  From a financial point of view, yes.  I was clarifying from an operational, technical point of view.


MR. RODGER:  So from that point of view, there would be a separate tracking of age of assets and so on, maybe depreciated for three, four years.  But from your operational accounting, if I can call it that, it would be brand new in service the year it actually does come into service. 


MR. INNIS:  We would have to track that separately, that's correct.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Mr. DeVellis.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  No questions.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams.  


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Adams:  


MR. ADAMS:  Mr. Innis, one of the issues that you've raised justifying your proposition to the Board is the issue of rate shock.  


And I just want to make sure that I have a comprehensive understanding of your evidence on the quantification of that rate shock.  


We have an illustrative diagram, figure 1, you have in your evidence, D1, tab 1, page 17, but I notice that there is no figures on the rate side.  


So my question is, how much rate shock are we talking about here?  


MR. INNIS:  In terms of quantifying it?  I don't have a specific number for you.  


From a qualitative point of view, it would spread out the impact of a rate change to our customers, because we would not have that asset coming into service in one specific year.  


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I understand qualitatively.  But you haven't done it quantitatively?  Is that fair?  


MR. INNIS:  Can you repeat the question, please?  


MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I understand your position qualitatively, but I just wanted to see if there is anything on the record that we can refer to that quantifies what you're talking about here in terms of rate shock.  


MR. INNIS:  There is no quantitative number of the rate shock.  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  So if we had a conventional treatment of -- let's see if we can get this in the order of magnitude, just some kind of -- some way of grappling with these concepts in a more concrete way than just simply a qualitative.  


Can I turn you to table 1 of your evidence.  This is page 6.  


MS. NOWINA:  Page 6 of...?


MR. ADAMS:  Oh, D1, tab 1, schedule 4.  There is a list of items there, your four projects.  It's the $883 million rate base.  


If a conventional treatment was used for introducing these items into rate base, the -- it seems to me that the rate impact, given the long depreciation periods for most of these assets, would be a relatively small bump on your overall revenue requirement.  


Like -- I believe the figure is something under 10 percent.  Is that fair?  


MR. INNIS:  10 percent of what?  


MR. ADAMS:  Your revenue requirement.  Substantially less than 10 percent.  


MR. INNIS:  Are you talking about the change as a result of putting these in service would be less than 10 percent of our revenue requirement?  


MR. ADAMS:  Yes. 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that would be the case.  Without having checked the detailed numbers, I believe from the order of magnitude that would be consistent. 


MR. ADAMS:  Just to put this in some perspective, for the ordinary customer, your contribution to their overall bill is under 10 percent of their bill.  Right?  


DR. PORAY:  Perhaps I can be of help here.  If we look at Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, and page 7 specifically. 


MR. ADAMS:  I don't have it with me.  


DR. PORAY:  This is in the summary of the application.  And it is under the section which says, Causes of the increase in revenue requirement.  And if you will permit me, I will read this into the record.  It says:  

"These requirements represent an increase of 4 percent and 2.1 percent increase in transmission revenues, in 2007 and 2008 respectively, which translates into less than 0.5 percent increase on the average total customer bill."  


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  That is helpful for our discussion here.  


DR. PORAY:  And this is on the overall revenue requirement.  And you were talking specifically here about the supply mix projects.  


MR. ADAMS:  Which is a relatively small piece of the overall --  


DR. PORAY:  Which would be a smaller piece, that's correct. 


MR. ADAMS:  So when we're trying to get a sense of, you know, rates and impacts -- or rate impacts, that would be a place to start in terms of appreciating the significance of how much rate shock protection you're providing with your proposal.  Fair?  


MR. INNIS:  It would be a starting point.  


MR. ADAMS:  One of the issues that your proposal gives rise to, that I haven't heard you discuss, is the intergenerational impacts.  Here we have a situation where we're going to have some customers that are not getting the benefit of assets that will be paying for them, under your proposal, and then when the assets eventually are brought into service - assuming everything goes according to plan - the benefits flow to a customer group that may not be the same as the customer group that was initially paying for these assets.  


Does that issue give you any concern?  


MR. INNIS:  We always are concerned about the intergenerational impact and equity to our customers.  These assets that we're talking about would typically have a service life in the 40-50 year range or thereabouts.  So what we're talking about, in terms of this proposal, is treatment at the front end of that period for a few years prior to its normal in-service.  


So it would essentially be customers, the same body of customers that would receive this benefit because of the duration of the projects.  


Also, the consideration has been given to being fair to our customers, and what would happen is, the lower AFUDC -- or stopping the AFUDC as these projects go into rate base would lower the overall project cost.  So that minimizes that intergenerational equity issue.  


MR. ADAMS:  Just following up on one of the questions that Mr. Rodger put to you around special treatment and its impact on conformance with GAAP.  


One of the advantages of sticking with the traditional costing rules for utility projects is the transparency.  It is very difficult -- the utility business is so difficult, it is very hard for customers to know what they're paying for when they see their bill, what is behind it.  There are always these -- you know, there's a whole literature of special roles that apply to these things.  


But what you're proposing is to change the traditional costing approach and introduce an approach that is not typically used for major projects, and it seems to me that that represents a transparency disadvantage. 


Do you see any options for remedying this disadvantage, so that customers can understand what their costs are behind their bill in a fashion that is explanatory of the approach that you're taking?  


MR. INNIS:  We are indeed asking for something different with the supply mix projects.  It is something that has not been included in rate base before for these types of projects, as the money is spent.  And that difference is because of the different circumstances we're facing.


As far as the customer impacts, this would be part of the transmission charge on the customer bill, which includes a variety of costs in there.  This would be a small part of that line item on the customer bill.  


And I am not sure if this warrants specific disclosure in terms of a customer billing point of view.  Certainly, it does warrant discussion in this forum and to present this topic and to have this discussion. 


So I believe this is a useful forum for people to understand what the proposal is, but I don't think it would be appropriate, in terms of the order of magnitude, to reflect that specifically at a customer bill level, if that's what you're suggesting.


MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Now, you're not the only utility that faces challenges in dealing with the supply mix environment that Ontario has with regard to its electricity challenges.  The gas utilities have been called upon to service the electricity sector indirectly as a fuel supplier, and they have had to build new facilities in order to accommodate these requirements of the various supply mix issues and government directives.


Do you agree with me, first of all, that at a high level, the uncertainties, the challenges expressed associated with cancellation risk, policy and volatility, are issues as relevant to gas utilities building facilities to service electricity loads as they are for you in building transmission components?


MR. INNIS:  I think the utility sector has risks, whether it be gas or electricity.  The transmission risks that we're talking about here, I believe, would be unique to us, in the sense of the scale of the outlay and the risk of that line not being functional.  


I'm thinking of the Bruce line, the risk for that line not being completed or not being fully energized if generation doesn't materialize.


So I think our risks are unique.  In terms of the gas company, I'm sure they have their own risks, as well.  And what we're talking about here are the sector risks that we would face.


MR. ADAMS:  Do you face any bypass risk associated with any of these projects that you have identified on the list for special treatment?


MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment to check with my colleague.  Thank you.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. INNIS:  The bypass risk would be normally factored into our load forecast.  In terms of the specific projects that we have here, I'm not aware that it has been identified as there would be an associated bypass risk with these projects.


MR. ADAMS:  You're not aware of any of the generators, for example, as they have in gas, proposing to build their own transportation facilities?


DR. PORAY:  We are aware that the gas generators have used that avenue where they built their own facilities, but certainly, as Mr. Innis has explained, for these particular projects we haven't identified bypass risk.


MR. ADAMS:  When the gas utilities were called upon to construct facilities to support power generation supply projects, one of the challenges they faced was difficulty in understanding ‑‑ or in forecasting the loads that they were going to experience because of volatility in the expected output of gas generation.


Is that issue somewhat analogous to the uncertainty of load factors that you see in, for example, the Bruce to Milton line?


[Witness panel confers]


DR. PORAY:  In response to your question, I'm not ‑‑ or we're not familiar on this panel with the details of the gas proceedings, but we feel that in respect of the four supply mix projects here, that this is a unique circumstance that needs to be addressed.


MR. ADAMS:  Now, you have raised hypothetical concerns about potential cancellation risk associated with these projects.


Looking at the largest of these, Bruce to Milton, can you add some flesh to the bones of what these hypothetical cancellation possibilities are that you're thinking of?


Do you have concerns about the fundamental business viability of the generation businesses, or is there something else?


MR. INNIS:  Our concern would relate to these projects perhaps not coming in on time, or perhaps the order of magnitude of the scale of generation being different than what we're building for, or we're talking about something that is a matter totally outside of our control, either through some government direction that changes either the source or generation mix, or perhaps we might run into a similar circumstance that we have run into in Niagara, where, on our side, from matters totally beyond our control, we're not able to complete the projects that we have been requested to build.


So there is a variety of potential factors that are some on the Hydro One side, beyond our control, some in terms of the political decisions, some in terms of the ability of the generators to have their assets in service by the scheduled time.


MR. ADAMS:  Just one final question.  I mean, you've introduced, I think, a reasonable list of concerns, but don't you ‑‑ by bringing forward this proposal, you have really made a statement to the effect that you don't believe that the regulatory treatment that you would receive in the ordinary course would be sufficient to deal with these things.


And I am not too sure what that is based on.  I think this Panel, this Board is perfectly capable of managing the kind of concerns that you have raised.  They've been through lots of projects; not with electricity transmission, but this is an experienced Board and there are methods for resolving the kinds of concerns.


If the company is not at fault and some project goes awry, I'm not aware of anything in the history of regulation in Ontario where a legitimate claim like that had been left out to dry.


Can't we rely on the ordinary practice of regulation?  Special rules are really not required here.


MR. INNIS:  We have about $900 million worth of projects, if we add up the total dollars for these four supply mix projects.  That's a significant amount of money, even for a large corporation like Hydro One, and this is unprecedented capital expansion for us.


So I would suggest that this circumstance is different than what we have entertained before, and we are concerned about the financial message that is sent by us committing to this large‑scale project when there is no assurance of recovery, and this would have an impact on our credit rating.


So we have large‑scale investment over a period of time.  The Bruce project is a number of years and this project would be on our construction work-in-progress, pending other -- pending completion and pending other decisions, in terms of its used and usefulness.  So we see these projects being higher risk than what we normally would have undertaken and we're undertaking these projects for the generation mix and import risk -- generation requirements and also import requirements, as well.  And these are long lead-time activities.  


MR. ADAMS:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.  Mr. Stephenson.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, I will just move over.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. Stephenson:  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  


The first issue I wanted to touch on was the use of a term in the discussion you had earlier with Ms. Campbell, and that was the term "incentive."  


There was some reference to the treatment that you were seeking for these projects as being an incentive.  Do you recall that, sir?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And as I think of the word "incentive," at least in my ordinary thinking about such words, I understand it to mean it is some kind of encouragement to get somebody to do something that they might not otherwise do.  In general terms.  I mean, that is what I view an incentive to be.  Is that consistent with your general understanding of what an incentive is? 


MR. INNIS:  In the normal English usage, I would say yes. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm just wondering whether that term is really appropriate in this context, because at least with respect to the four projects, you don't need any incentive to actually undertake these projects.  You're going to do them.  There's just no doubt about that, subject to some future direction.  


You've already made that decision, right?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  These projects would be undertaken for direction, under the direction of other -- the OPA, for example.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that, in fact, underpins part of the rationale, why you're seeking this treatment, is because in a different world, if it was simply Hydro One making this decision, you may well not have come to the same decision about these particular projects proceeding at this particular time.  Fair?  


MR. INNIS:  That's fair.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So what I am going to suggest to you here is that the treatment you're seeking here isn't about incentive.  


The treatment you're seeking here is really about fairness at the end of the day.  Isn't that fundamentally the concern you have?  


MR. INNIS:  It's about fairness, and in order to address that fairness, it is about requesting special regulatory treatment for these projects.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the risk is the one that you've articulated, that at the end of the day, if for reasons outside of your control, there are unforeseen delays or cancellation, then you will be facing a financial risk that you don't feel is fair.  Fair?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, let me just talk to you for a moment about the risk.  As I understand it -- and to be fair, I think you have done a good job articulating this -- but there are at least two categories of risks you face on these.  


One is the most extreme, which is that the project is, for reasons outside of your control, it never goes into service.  That's one of the risks you've identified. 


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And there is a somewhat less extreme risk, which is what I would view as the sort of the significant delay of the in-service risk, or maybe reconfiguration, smaller project or something like that.  


MR. INNIS:  It's the delay and the uncertainty that comes with that.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  As a point of clarification here, let's assume for a moment that there was no risk vis-a-vis the former of those two concerns, that it never goes into service.  Would you still be seeking this treatment vis-a-vis simply a long delay problem?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we would and it address issues, not just long delay, but it would address the duration of the construction period and the associated risks with that project life cycle.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it here, the risk, the financial risks to Hydro One, in my mind, seem to come down into two categories.  


Category number 1 is the, what I call the certainty of recovery issue, that is perhaps better said, uncertainty of recovery.  That you may not be able to recover these -- the costs after you've gone ahead and spent them.  That is one of your concerns; correct?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The second issue that you are concerned about is the timing of recovery of the costs.  That your ability to recoup them, in other words to put them into rate base and to start to recover for them, may be delayed in a way you think is inappropriate.  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, if I could, I would just like to try to deal with those two risks separately, and to distinguish the four projects we've got here from other projects that you may do from time to time.  

On the timing issue, I take it on any capital project there are always timing issues and that you may encounter delays from time to time and it may go in-service, relatively speaking, later than you hoped.  There is always an element of timing risk around capital projects.  Is that fair?  


MR. INNIS:  That's a fair statement.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, you may face a different magnitude of those risks in these cases and I take it that is what you've identified. 


MR. INNIS:  It is magnitude and the nature of these projects as well. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Lack of -- they are less under your corporate control, fair?  


MR. INNIS:  Fair.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, but if we were able -- what I'm trying to get at here is, let's assume for a moment that the Board is disinclined to accept your proposal.  From my client's perspective, we think they should accept your proposal, but let's accept that there is always some risk that the Board may not agree.  


And I'm just wondering if there is a halfway house that might meet your needs.  And I wanted to put it to you so we could understand if I'm right about that.  


And what I'm wondering about is this, you have already, I suspect, some kind of schedule to take these projects in service; correct?  You have a forecast in-service indicate date of some kind?  


MR. INNIS:  With the exception of Niagara.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Well, you do have a forecast in-service date.  It has been scrubbed, right?  It was forecast to be in service a year ago.  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct, and it's currently uncertain. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, what if the Board instead of approving you putting money into the rate base as spent took a different approach.  They said we're going to take the traditional approach with you, and we're going to wait until the project is ready to go in-service.  Instead of being actually to go in-service, they took your scheduled in-service date.  Okay.  


And they said, to address your concerns with your ability to raise money in the market and all of those adverse consequences, what we're prepared to do is to say this to you:  We're not going to allow you to put money in rate base as spent, but we are going to allow you to put money, all of the cost, into the rate base on the scheduled in-service date, regardless of whether it actually goes in service on that date or not, so long as you can assure us that the failure to go in-service wasn't your fault.  Does that get you home?  


MR. INNIS:  Part-way home.  That's not the same impact that -- what we are seeking for in this application.  That would help.  But it wouldn't be the fully effect of what we were seeking.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  You see, the reason I raise that proposal -- and I think the reason that your proposal may give some people a certain amount of heartburn -- is that it seems to treat these projects -- it doesn't just address the way in which these particular projects are more risky to you.


You are actually seeking treatment for these projects which is actually more favourable than a regular capital project, in the sense that you're putting money in rate base faster than you otherwise would have.


What I'm suggesting to you is if we use your in‑service date as the date in which you can put the whole cost in, doesn't that, then, create a symmetry between these projects and the ordinary course capital projects?


MR. INNIS:  That would be more consistent with the typical treatment for those projects.  However, these projects are differentiated by their risk.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the last item I just wanted to touch on is, in terms of just dealing with the reality of the risk or the tangibility of the risk, if I can call it that, on the Bruce‑Milton project, which is the big one, I take it that there are a number of risks, but one of them, for example, would be a delay in the refurbishment of the units; fair?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I take it that you're familiar that Ontario's track record on refurbishing ‑ I say this sitting beside Mr. Adams here ‑ track record on refurbishing nuclear records [sic] in a timely fashion is 

-- well, to call it spotty is to give credit to it.  It has been poor.  You're aware of that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  There have been challenges.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there's been extensive delays.  And none of this is your company, I appreciate that; but there have been extensive delays, and that is all in the public domain.


MR. INNIS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  If they got them done in time, that would be an exception rather than the rule; fair?


MR. INNIS:  Fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And in terms of the ‑‑ the other element of generation up there that this project is designed to facilitate is some very significant wind projects; correct?


MR. INNIS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I don't know to what extent you're familiar with the tracking of these various new generation projects as the OPA reports on them from time to time, but are you aware that there have been very significant delays in a variety of different wind projects throughout Ontario?


MR. INNIS:  I believe there are delays and there have been challenges.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there have been some cancellations of significant projects; correct?


MR. INNIS:  I take that under advisement, but I don't know specific projects.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But, in any event, I take it that part of your thinking around the risks has been informed by your knowledge of Ontario's actual experience vis‑a‑vis timely delivery of these new projects?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And as I say, there has been some evidence of significant delays; fair?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Rogers, re-direct?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.  Just one area.


FURTHER EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.  Just one area.


MR. ROGERS:  Gentlemen, dealing with the Niagara project, I think Ms. Campbell raised this first with you and she pointed out that the original submission did not have the Niagara project in the supply mix quartet; is that right, Mr. Innis?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Please explain to the Board why that was so and why the company asks now that it be included.


MR. INNIS:  Since filing our initial evidence in September 2006, the circumstances surrounding Niagara have changed.


When we filed in September of 2006, we had planned for that project to become in-service in 2006.


Subsequent then, it's increasingly apparent that there is going to be difficulty completing that project due to circumstances that are beyond our control.  And in considering that, and also in considering the criteria for the supply mix treatment, the Niagara project meets the specific criteria that we established.  


So in our February update to the evidence, because of the change in circumstances with Niagara, our ability to complete that project, we added Niagara to the supply mix list in our February update.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Now, one last question.


Dealing with the Niagara project as an example, you were asked by several intervenors about depreciation on assets which were not in service.  Do you recall that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, in the case of the Niagara project, there are towers actually constructed out there in the field, are there not?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, there are.


MR. ROGERS:  And are those towers sitting there waiting for this impasse to be resolved suffering physical degradation?  


MR. INNIS:  They would be subject to the elements and there would be some physical degradation associated with those assets just being constructed already.


MR. ROGERS:  Does that in accounting terms mean that they are depreciating in value?


MR. INNIS:  They would be losing value, in the sense of they are technologically being worn down; correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Innis, one of the themes of this segment of the proposal is the incentive aspect of it, and what occurs to me is that I'm not sure how anything that's being proposed operates as an incentive for your company.  It may be that there is an incentive that needs to be put in place, but it's not for your company to do it.


Could you explain to me, again, how the incentive analogy operates, with respect to this proposal, to bring these costs into rate base as they are incurred?  How does that create an incentive for you?


MR. INNIS:  What we're asking for is not an incentive in the traditional use of that word, as far as provide some incentive to encourage a certain behaviour.  So it's not incentive in the prior giving of approval to encourage behaviour.


It is perhaps better considered to be special regulatory treatment that we're asking for.  FERC calls those "incentives" in their literature, but what we're asking for is special regulatory treatment for these projects as opposed to an incentive to do something before the fact.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In your answers to Mr. Stephenson, you indicated that these are projects that have been have visited upon you, that these are projects that you are going to undertake as a result of directives from whatever other agencies.  And in that context, there is no incentive to have you do the projects.  You're going to do the projects.  I think your answer was clear on that point.


So isn't what we're really talking about a risk management exercise?


MR. INNIS:  I think that's a fair characterization.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And will Ms. McShane, when she comes to address the cost of capital, will she be able to provide us with a very specific estimate of what the risk, the implications for risk for the company are if the proposal is approved or disapproved, as the case might be?


MR. INNIS:  I believe Ms. McShane would be prepared to discuss that, yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rupert.


MR. RUPERT:  A couple of questions on Quebec intertie and the other project, static VAR compensation, but most of my questions are on Niagara.  


On the Hydro-Quebec intertie project, which I think you said is an expensive capital cost of 115 million, that was approved, I think, by this Board.  The leave to construct was given many years ago, I think 2001, as I recall.


MR. INNIS:  2001, it was.


MR. RUPERT:  Now, I'm trying to understand the nature of the risk on that project that puts it in the same category as the Bruce‑Milton project.  I'm just not sure I grasped the nature of the risk that you are referring to in this one.


MR. INNIS:  With respect to the Hydro-Quebec project?


MR. RUPERT:  Right.


MR. INNIS:  We see the risk being associated with the signing of a long-term power agreement with Quebec that would enable full usage of that line.


MR. RUPERT:  You're saying your construction of the project is contingent on that?


MR. INNIS:  No.  We are constructing that project in good faith, and in terms of where we see risks, we see risks associated with there either being some sort of delay on the Quebec side of the arrangement as far as their own construction, in order to connect with our line at the intertie, and also risk associated with the signing of a long-term power agreement which would make that line functional and used and useful.


MR. RUPERT:  I want to understand the power purchase agreement.  I thought you had undertaken actually a licence condition years ago to expand the interties, including that one and that was not, to my knowledge, ever conditional on a power purchase agreement.  I'm not sure what your construction of the project has to do with the power purchase agreement.  Are you saying if there is no agreement, you will have to write it off?  I just don't understand the risk you are trying to get at. 


MR. INNIS:  In terms of the risks, I'm thinking in the context of used and useful.  And we would have to demonstrate to this Board that the project is used and useful before coming in service.  


It would be a concern if there's not the functionality of that line to use the generation from Quebec, then the concern or the risk would be it not being used and useful.  That's just as an example.  


To the extent that there is other criteria that would make that used and useful, we would certainly be happy to have included that in rate base. 


MR. RUPERT:  You're saying any time you undertake to expand an intertie, that you need to have a bilateral contract, you need a buyer and seller to say that is used and useful?  


MR. INNIS:  'm not sure if that is a necessary condition.  I can't confirm that.  


MR. RUPERT:  The other one, the smaller project, static VAR compensation for southwestern Ontario, estimated cost of $54 million.  


I understand, I think in your evidence, how that relates to what you call supply mix in the sense that it seems to relate to somehow coal going out of service and other things.  But in terms of risk, I am just trying to get a handle on the risks you see associate withed that project and try to distinguish the level of risk, whether it is delays or other factors, from other capital projects that you have talked about or other panels have talked about a few weeks ago, that were much larger.  We have much larger projects that you're doing in the company that are not in this category. 


How is this project riskier than those other ones?  


MR. INNIS:  This specific project relates to a number of factors, one of them being the shutdown in coal.  


MR. RUPERT:  Right. 


MR. INNIS:  And also it is required for voltage support for the Bruce line that is being constructed as well.  


So it's tied in with those two activities, such that if the Bruce line is delayed or if the coal shutdown doesn't proceed as envisaged, then we would have this asset that is not being used for its stated or designed, designed purpose.  


MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  Okay.  Thank you.  Niagara -- Actually, before we get to that.  Your proposal, I think, says -- uses words like "the rate base will be increased for these projects as costs are incurred."  


I just want to make sure I understand that, since obviously rates are set in advance in the year.  So that means that you're proposing to put into rate base for Bruce-Milton or the other projects, what you expect to spend in the year in question, 2007 and 2008, as opposed to -- because you can't automatically, in real time, adjust the rate base.  


MR. INNIS:  You're correct, and let me just clarify how that would work, is construction would take place throughout the course of the year.  So what we would do is estimate the average amount of in-service during that year, based on the spending.  Typically that would be a mid-year amount that we would use.  


So we would assume a steady pattern of spending throughout the year, and include half of that spending in service, half of the total annual spending in service for that year.



MR. RUPERT:  You're proposing we set rates for 2007 and 2008 and then of course, there is your revenue adjustment mechanism you have also proposed for the following two years.  But just stick with 2007 and 2008.  Let's say you do that and for whatever reason the actual expenditures on some of these projects are far less than your estimate.  What would happen then?  


MR. INNIS:  If the spending is less than our estimate from an accounting point of view, we would put in that lower amount, based on the actual spending that has been -- that would have been incurred. 


MR. RUPERT:  In terms of the rates which would have been set for the two years based on a higher level, how would you propose to adjust rates for the fact that they were overstated, if I could put it that way?  


MR. INNIS:  For that current period, because rates are set in advance, those rates would not be adjusted in that period.  


But what would happen is, on a going-forward, when there is a rate reset, that would reflect the lower costs of that project.  And the same case would be for situations where project costs would have been higher than what we would have spent.  Then essentially we would have been underrecovering through rates during that period of time prior to the reset.  So we, over time, we would reset it.  

But when rates are set, we would not have that ability to reflect any costs that are higher or lower than what the estimate is. 

MR. RUPERT:  There would be no true-up, in other words? 


MR. INNIS:  The true-up would take place at the time of the rate reset.  So a true-up in the sense of, rates would be adjusted on a going-forward basis.  Typically we don't adjust -- 


MR. RUPERT:  Rolled into future rates. 


MR. INNIS:  That's right.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, that's okay.  


Now I think one of the undertakings that you have agreed to this morning.  I think from Mr. Rodger will probably get at this but I just wanted to make sure I understand the difference between the status quo or the normal treatment for these projects and the treatment you proposed.  


The status quo would be that you would be -- I guess in the case of Niagara currently, are capitalizing interest of the AFUDC at the rate you use for that which is, I think is proposed to be 5.9 percent in 2007.  


MR. INNIS:  I think the rate is 4.7 percent currently, but that's the AFUDC rate we would be using. 


MR. RUPERT:  Whatever.  But around that.  Let's say 5 percent, then.  And that just keeps accumulating and there is no cash for you until such time as that project gets into rate base and gets into rates under the conventional accounting. 


MR. INNIS:  That's correct, yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  Now under the proposed treatment, you would have it into rate base and you would have -- using your, I guess, proposed split debt-equity of preferred shares you would have 60 percent of the project costs attracting that same interest rate, 5 percent.  Right?  


MR. INNIS:  Hmm-hmm, yes.  


MR. RUPERT:  4 percent would be a preferred share rate, whatever that is, and 36 percent of that would get the higher return equity that you're proposing which is after tax, ten and half or ten and a quarter percent, something like that. 


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.

MR. RUPERT:  Which pre-tax is 16 plus percent, right?  So there is 36 percent of the project cost that instead of attracting on today's sort of status quo model, 5 percent would attract like 16 percent, if I make everything equivalent on a pre-tax basis. 


The reason I put it that way is one of the interrogatory responses which someone brought you to this morning had the reference to the fact that you took these two different things -- these two different approaches to have a slight difference.  I'm just kind of struggling with the slight difference part.  I know you will lay this out in the interrogatory to Mr. Rodger, but it strikes me it is much larger than slight.  So I am just trying to understand how you take a 10 percent differential on the equity component and refer to that as slight.  


MR. INNIS:  The current number that we have for the AFUDC is 4.7.  And our weighted average cost of capital is about 7.7.  So that's the -- that would be the difference that we would be earning on that project for the time, otherwise it would be in rate base. 


MR. RUPERT:  But as I think someone is pointing out in the next panel that, is a bit of a misleading number because that is a mix pre-tax and after-tax returns which is kind of a nonsensical calculation, to be fair.  If you look at 10 percent of return on equity, that is 16 percent pre-tax; right?  


MR. INNIS:  If you isolate that component, correct.  


MR. RUPERT:  Yes.  Well, this struck me that slight difference is perhaps not entirely accurate.  I guess we will see it in the interrogatory response, but...


MR. INNIS:  We will outline the flows in that interrogatory response.  


MR. RUPERT:  If, in the case of Niagara -- is there a plan B for Niagara?  If there is an extended delay in the resolution of that situation, I recognize, as you said earlier, you're not obviously in the middle of leaving those discussions, whatever they may be; but if there is an extended delay what is the corporation's plan?  Would you have plans, for example, to do a detour, if I can use that term, around the problem area to make the line, put it in service?  What actually is the plan?  Or would this be abandonment?  


MR. INNIS:  I'm not aware of what the plans are right now.  


I believe that there would be some consideration of alternatives, such as redirection.  But I believe that would have some challenges associated with that as well.  


So before abandonment, we would fully consider our options.  I can say that.  And that would include either alternate ways to complete the project through a different routing that would enable us to fully complete the line. 

MR. RUPERT:  In terms of the incentive, if I can use that word in a different way than Mr. Sommerville was using it, but if your proposal goes ahead and you are collecting in rates the same amount you would get if the asset were in service, I'm just wondering from a purely financial perspective what your incentive would be to search for plan B or plan C in the event that this drags on for a protracted period.


MR. INNIS:  We've got the responsibility to prudently manage all of our assets, and we would do our best to find solutions for that.


As far as the financial recovery of costs, that would be a good thing, and that would not preclude us from discharging our responsibilities to proactively manage our assets and come up with a good solution.  So I don't think that would be any disincentive to us prudently managing the asset and doing the right thing with it.


MR. RUPERT:  Mr. Buonaguro and Mr. Stephenson and maybe others asked you about, I guess, alternatives, maybe not just for Niagara, but for all of the projects you're looking at, all four, and whether you looked at alternative approaches to your proposal.


They gave you a couple of options, and I guess the one that Mr. Buonaguro talked about, if I understood it, was middle ground of allowing you to have recovery through rates of the AFUDC, but not the full return on equity for the equity component of it.  That was sorts of a halfway position.


Is that one that you have considered in putting together your proposal?


MR. INNIS:  We considered a variety of options and some were in the FERC list, as well, and these are the ones that we landed on, as far as the inclusion of the CWIP and rate base. 


I don't know if that specific option was one that was considered, but we did consider a variety of ones that we saw in the FERC documents.


MR. RUPERT:  Specifically the case of Niagara, that kind of approach, or something like that, would seem to result in, I'll call it, a sharing of risks between ratepayers and the company.  Speaking specifically of Niagara, did you identify and consider other methods to your proposal, in terms of sharing the risk of this unfortunate situation?


MR. INNIS:  We looked at Niagara as being treated similar to the other supply mix projects, rather than another special treatment for Niagara.


MR. RUPERT:  One undertaking that I think you promised Mr. Buonaguro and Mr. Rodger this morning, will that identify specifically for Niagara the difference between, what, the status quo and your proposal, or was there a ‑‑ if it doesn't, can I add to it, I guess, is what I'm getting around to.


Would it be possible to add to that or a separate interrogatory for Niagara to look at the differential effect between what your proposal is for Niagara and what the revenue requirement might be if the company were allowed to recover its cost of debt, the AFUDC rate, without depreciation?


MR. INNIS:  I believe that would have been encompassed in that undertaking.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Let me just check.  I think that is it.  I'm not sure if I covered it off.


I think that is it.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  I have a few questions as well, panel.  You're almost finished.  Continuing with Niagara, it is my understanding that Niagara is not similar to the other supply mix projects in that you did not have a directive to develop that project from another agency; is that correct?


MR. INNIS:  Niagara would have been included in the supply mix and issues in the sense that is required for generation and for interconnection, as well.


As far as a specific direction, I believe that is included in the IESO reliability outlook as being a project that is required.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  

Now, Niagara is different from the other projects in the sense that the others are all future projects.  Niagara, as you say, is a largely completed project and it just doesn't have a risk of something going wrong; something has gone wrong, which you can specifically identify and let us know the current costs of the project and the outstanding costs if it doesn't go forward.


So I guess, following on from Mr. Rupert's questions, I still am uncertain as to why you include it in this category of supply mix projects, rather than make a separate case for it specifically.


MR. INNIS:  There is a timing issue associated with the -- this hearing being underway and the opportunity to bring it forward in this forum, given it has the same nature of projects as the other supply mix projects.


If there was not a hearing taking place, then as the Niagara situation would unfold, we would be requesting specific treatment for that.  However, given the timing of the negotiations not allowing us to complete the project and this hearing being on, it was appropriate, in our belief, to bring this forward at this time, because the timing allowed that.


MS. NOWINA:  I wasn't suggesting that you should bring it forward in a separate forum, Mr. Innis; rather, that you treat it specifically as a known case in this hearing as opposed to treating it the same as the supply mix projects.


MR. INNIS:  Oh, I see.  When we looked at Niagara, the criteria that we aligned it against the other supply mix projects, Niagara was consistent with those criteria.  So it's a packaging or bundling of what we believe is a similar type of project to the others.


We could have brought that separately, but in terms of bundling it, it appeared to us to be very similar in nature to the existing supply mix projects we identified.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Bruce to Milton.  In your discussion with Mr. Stephenson, you talked about the risk of the generation projects in the Bruce area not being completed and that that was a risk to the transmission line.


Does that mean that the transmission line would not be put in service, if those generation projects did not come to fruition?


MR. INNIS:  From a technical point of view, I believe we would energize the line to be in service.  However, the concern would be with respect to meeting the used and useful criteria, in order to fully declare this recoverable from a rate‑setting point of view.


So whereas it could be physically energized, it would have been in that particular case significantly overbuilt for the generation that was available.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Those are my questions.


Mr. Rogers, do you need to re‑examine based on that?


MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you very much, panel.  It has been a long couple of days for you and I appreciate -- oh, you're coming back.  All right.  

Why don't we break for lunch until one o'clock, at which point we will deal with the remainder of the issues with this panel.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. ROGERS:  I wonder if I could ask if the Board could give any direction as to how late you plan to sit today to finish this panel.


MS. NOWINA:  You anticipate that we may have to sit late?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I am concerned about it, the way we're going.  Ms. McShane is coming for tomorrow from out of town, and so I would like to finish with this panel.  I also have a personal commitment.  That's really the reason I'm asking, to be honest.  But I wondered if you know ‑‑ if not, fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's to stop and take estimates for the cross‑examination of this panel, for the last issues of this panel now, and then we will have some idea.  


Who plans to cross-examine the panel on the last issues?  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I have on all of the issues together maybe about an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And if I may ask to go first, I have a flight to catch to the Yukon.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Ms. Campbell?


MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm making this estimate on behalf of Ms. Lea, who will actually be doing the questioning, and Mr. Thiessen estimates about 30 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MS. CAMPBELL:  Obviously if Mr. Buonaguro covers things, then it will be less.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Other parties?  Mr. DeVellis?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I have about half an hour on the earnings sharing issue.  I suspect if Mr. Buonaguro wants to go first, I may have less.  That's total.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MR. RODGER:  I would say total of about 15 minutes. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Stephenson. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, I expect to be very brief, five minutes at most.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I am specifically addressing the debt cost issue, and I really have about 10 or 15 minutes.  What I may do, because I have to be down -- getting ready for Ms. McShane tomorrow, I have to be downtown this afternoon, I may get one of my colleagues to ask the questions for me.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Mr. Long. 


MR. LONG:  Five to ten minutes.  


MR. MacINTOSH:  Madam Chair, Energy Probe would have probably about ten minutes. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So that gives me about 3 hours.  I don't know how much your examination-in-chief will be, Mr. Rogers.  


MR. ROGERS:  I do have a little bit to go through on the earnings sharing mechanism, so probably 10, 15 minutes at the outside.  


MS. NOWINA:  So give me a moment and I will ask my fellow panel members how we are.  


[Board panel confers]  


MS. NOWINA:  We will sit until we finish but it looks like that won't be any later than five o'clock.  I will ask everyone to try to stick to their times and we will reassemble at one o'clock.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:46 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 1:01 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Welcome back to the witness panel.  I really wasn't trying to get rid of you before lunch, so we're glad to see you back.


For the remainder of the issues with this panel, order of appearances?


MS. GIRVAN:  I think I will be going first, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  At what point is Board Staff going to go?


MS. LEA:  We're happy to go last, but it is a matter of indifference to me.  I'll fit in where it is convenient.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's make it last unless someone has some other request.  So, Ms. Girvan, you will begin.


MR. ROGERS:  Could I, just before Ms. Girvan begins ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Oh, yes, you get your chance, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  I would like to show that I was here on the transcript.  I try to say something every day just to prove that.


FURTHER EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROGERS:


MR. ROGERS:  What I thought I would do, Madam Chair, members of the Board, is have a brief review with the witnesses of the way that the company sees the implementation of its revenue difference deferral account.  This panel will be dealing with that, as well as the earnings sharing mechanism.

We prepared a document, actually, which was circulated last week that I propose to use as I go through this.  I hope the Board has a copy of this, but, if not, I have extra copies.


MS. NOWINA:  I think we do.


MR. ROGERS:  I have extra copies here.


MS. LEA:  This was not yet given an exhibit number?


MR. ROGERS:  No, it was not.  It was circulated to all of the parties last week, but no exhibit number.


MS. LEA:  I believe it is the first exhibit of the day, L7.1.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Maybe I can have a copy, Mr. Rogers.  I don't know where I put mine.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


EXHIBIT NO. L7.1:  DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED BY MR. ROGERS

MR. ROGERS:  Now, Mr. Innis, I believe you're the man to answer these questions on how this will work?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can help.


MR. ROGERS:  You have prepared this very brief outline of an example as to how the company sees this deferral account working.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Is that correct?  And if we look at page 1 of the Exhibit, L7.1, can you tell us, please, what assumptions have you made in your example with respect to timing of these essential events?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can do that.


For illustrative purposes, we have identified a number of key dates that we see as being related to the revenue difference deferral account.  The first date, that being January 1, 2007, would be the effective date of new 2007 rates.


We're expecting, on August 1st, 2007 -- that's our estimated date, subject to Board's own schedule, but that's the estimated date that the transmission revenue requirement for 2007 and 2008 would be approved.


MR. ROGERS:  In any event, this is the assumption you made for the purpose of this illustration?


MR. INNIS:  That's the assumption for the illustrative circumstance that we have here.


MR. ROGERS:  Right.


MR. INNIS:  Correct.  On September 1st, once again we're assuming that a transmission rate order would be submitted by Hydro One Networks, and that rate order would include the value of the revenue difference deferral account.


MR. ROGERS:  RDDA?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  RDDA would be the revenue difference deferral account.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.


MR. INNIS:  And also in September, other transmission companies would provide information to the Board as input to establish a uniform transmission rate.  

Based on those inputs, we would expect that around October 1st, 2007 there would be new uniform transmission rates approved for 2007 and 2008. 


And then, finally, November 1st, 2007 would be the date that new uniform transmission rates would be in effect, and this is the same date as we expect any adjustments to be made to the RPP, as well.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Now, when could the calculation be done of the amount to be returned, and how it would be done?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  Based on the dates in the illustrative example, we would assume a period from January 1st, 2007 until October 31st, 2007 as being the recovery period.  And because the proposal is based on using forecast volume, then we could do that calculation.  In terms of the value for that, we could do that calculation based upon the date of October 31st, 2007 when we do know the new rates.


MR. ROGERS:  So you could do the calculation as soon as you know the startup date and the revenue deficiency or excess that is found to exist?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Can you tell us now on page 2, how would you actually calculate the amount to be recovered.


MR. INNIS:  What we would do is, based on the approved 2007 revenue requirement, we would take that amount and multiply it by ten-twelfths of the annual volume.  That is, the ten-month volume divided by the annual volume, and that would be the amount that would be in the approved revenue for 2007.


From that amount we would deduct what would be in the currently approved rates, which is the 2007 rates, multiplied by the ten-month volume.  So in deducting that from the newly approved amounts, we would arrive at a difference.  In our illustrative example, that difference is $50 million, and that is the value that we would then put into rates going forward.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Now, once you know the amount and you know the startup date, let's turn the page and have you explain to us what rate implementation options you have considered.


MR. INNIS:  We've considered two options.  The first option would be one rate change effective November 1st, 2007.  What that one rate change would entail would be the approved revenue requirement for two months, that being November and December 2007.  It would also include the 2008 approved revenue requirement.  That would be for a 12‑month period.  And it would also include deferral account recovery for 2007 and 2008, and also the revenue difference deferral account value that has previously been calculated from the period of January 2007 until October 31st, 2007.


And all of those amounts that I just mentioned would be recovered over a 14‑month period starting November 1st, 2007 and ending December 31st, 2008.  That's option 1.


MR. ROGERS:  What's the second option?


MR. INNIS:  Option 2 would entail there being two rate changes.  The first one would be on November 1st, 2007, and that would include the approved revenue requirement for two months, that being November/December, 2007.  And it would also include the 2007 deferral accounts, as well as the revenue difference deferral account for two months, as well.


After a two‑month period, there would be another rate adjustment that would deal with approved revenue requirement for 2008.  So on January 1st, 2008, there would be a rate change which would include the 2008 revenue requirement, and it would also include deferral account recovery and the revenue deficiency deferral account for a 12-month period, being the 2008 period.


MR. ROGERS:  So option 1 has one rate change and option 2 has two rate changes, has it, the deferral account; is that right?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Which of these two approaches have you proposed to the Board in your application?


MR. INNIS:  We're proposing that the first, option 1, is the most customer friendly, in terms of there only being one rate increase, and that would be November 1st, 2007.


And implementing this rate change on November 1st, 2007 would also allow this rate change to be bundled with other rate changes that would be expected in November, as well.  So from a customer point of view, there is one impact, not two impacts, just a couple of months apart from each other. 


MR. ROGERS:  The other change changes you're talking about, do they relate to the commodity cost?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  Now, in closing, I should just perhaps say that this proposal that we have just discussed refers to the revenue difference deferral account for 2007 and 2008 and does not referred to the revenue sharing mechanism which is quite separate, for the past period?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  Where that revenue sharing impact would be would be in the recovery of the regular deferral accounts.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  I hope that is helpful, thank you very much.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Ms. Girvan.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Panel, I guess these questions are for you, Mr. Innis.  


I am going to refer to two documents and the first one is Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 1, updated February 23rd, and this is entitled, "Debt financing strategy and cost of debt."  


MR. INNIS:  That would be me.  


MS. GIRVAN:  The second document is Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment A and that is entitled:  "Update to prefiled testimony of Kathleen McShane."   


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we have that. 


MS. GIRVAN:  Does the panel have the document?  


MS. LEA:  Could you please give the Exhibit B number again?  


MS. GIRVAN:  They're both Exhibit B1, the first is tab 2, schedule 1, updated February 23rd.  


The second one is B1, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment A.  That is also updated February 23rd.  


MS. NOWINA:  You can go ahead, Ms. Girvan.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Now, when I look first at the update to the prefiled testimony of Kathleen McShane, I see that what she has done there is she initially recommended a ROE for Hydro One transmission of 10.5 percent.  Her estimate was initially based on a number of tests and we're going to be discussing those tests tomorrow, I think, in some respect.  


Now, her evidence says that she believes her revised estimate of 10.25 percent represents a fair return for Hydro One transmission.  So what she's done is she's looked at, from what I understand, some recent economic forecasts and updated her evidence on that basis.  Would you agree that that is what she has done?  


MR. INNIS:  I believe that's what she's done.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Now, can you just explain, quickly, why Hydro One is still seeking a 10.5 percent ROE level, in light of her update?  


MR. INNIS:  The 10.5 percent ROE is what was in the initial submission, and this update was provided on March 1st, 2007.  We'd fully expect to roll in whatever ROE has been approved -- which is approved by the Board into the revenue requirement.  


So rather than put in what we see as perhaps an interim ROE value in updated evidence, we would wait to update everything once the final ROE is approved.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess my question is, is that from what I understand, Ms. McShane is recommending a fair return for Hydro One Transmission of 10.25 percent.  But from what I understand Hydro One is seeking approval of a 10.5 percent return on equity.  


MR. INNIS:  I believe it would be a timing difference to what we see.  So in terms of our filed evidence that we have, you're correct.  10.5 is in there.  


This update was submitted on March 1st, and so what we would do, if the Board approves the ROE consistent with Ms. McShane's testimony, we would update the ROE to be consistent with what has been approved.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Innis, what is Hydro One seeking?  10.5 or 10.25?  


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Thank you.  


MR. INNIS:  We would be seeking 10 percent ROE, consistent with Ms. McShane's recommendation.  And it was a matter of timing of the updates that we are still at 10.5 in the evidence that's been submitted.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Now – sorry, can you just clarify that?  You said 10 percent?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  In Ms. McShane's update, for 2007 it's 10 percent and for 2008 it is 10.25 percent.  And that's in Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment A.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I think I understand.  Okay.  

Now, if you could just turn to Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 1, updated, and that document is entitled:  "Debt financing strategy and cost of debt."  


So if I look at page 2 of that exhibit, I see at the bottom of the page that the weighted average cost of debt for 2007 is 5.92 percent, and for 2008 it is 5.85 percent.  And this compares with the original evidence where the debt cost for 2007 was 5.89 percent and the debt cost for 2008 was 5.83 percent.  Is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  So it's my understanding that your February 23rd update, in fact, increases the cost of debt relative to your initial filing, based on actual debt issues between the time you initially filed and the time that the update was filed.  Is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  

Now, if I turn to page 8 of that document, at the bottom of the page it says that the ten-year government of Canada bond yield forecast for 2007 is based on the February 2006 consensus forecast.  


And if I continue on, it says, at the top of page 9, that the ten-year government of Canada bond yield forecast for 2008 is based on the October 2005 consensus forecast.  


So that's your evidence.  And I have a couple of questions around that.  The first is why have you provided a debt forecast based on these -- I guess my question is: Why haven't you updated your debt costs in order to reflect more recent consensus forecasts?  Which is essentially what Ms. McShane has done in her evidence.  


MR. INNIS:  The submission that we have was, indeed, based on the forecasts that you have cited.  Ms. McShane, in her calculation of ROE, used a very current forecast.  We did not update that in our evidence because there are a number of assumptions that we have in the business plan, planning process that we have in order to calculate the revenue requirements, interest rates just being one of them.  


So we didn't want to get into cherry-picking for certain adjustments that would be made on one aspect, without reopening the whole plan which would be very cumbersome and refresh all of the planning assumptions.  So there was a consistent set of planning assumptions when we initially filed it and we are keeping that set consistent, rather than on a one-off basis changing some of the particular assumptions.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What I see as being inconsistent is what you just said to me a couple of minutes ago, is that if -- I think I understood it, if Ms. McShane's methodology or approach is accepted by the Board, you're prepared to accept the outcome of that methodology, which is based on updated economic forecasts.  Is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  That would be correct.  


MS. GIRVAN:  But with respect to your debt costs, you're not doing that.  So you're not basing what you're requesting for approved debt costs on the same type of information.  


MR. INNIS:  The order of magnitude, in terms of the refreshing for the current cost of debt is far more significant on the ROE than it would be on the cost of debt.  


The cost of debt is based on a full portfolio of outstanding bond issues that go back a number of years.  So from a weighting point of view, this has small impact on a change in the current debt's rate on the total outstanding debt than there would be on the ROE.  


Once again we look at that as being a package of assumptions, that we're not revisiting the full suite of planning assumptions.  Some of those may have been more favourable towards the ratepayer, some of them may be more favourable to the customer, but we're not going back in to reopen the planning assumptions that the evidence is based on.


MS. GIRVAN:  But you will accept there would be a difference; is that correct?


MR. INNIS:  There would be a difference, because the number is different by a few percentage points that were quoted.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I guess the other thing I wanted to find out:  Have you issued new debt since the update has been filed?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Yes, we have.


MS. GIRVAN:  Can you please explain the particulars around that?  And I guess specifically what I'm looking for is the cost of that debt versus what you have in the filing, in your forecast.


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Okay.  In March of this year, we issued 400 million of 30‑year debt, pretty similar to the assumptions that we have in terms of timing and term as to what's included in the evidence.


Of the 400 million that we issued, 60 percent was allocated to the -- mapped to the transmission business, approximately 240 million.  In the updated evidence we've got 193.9 million assumed.  So it was slightly higher in terms of the amount.  


In terms of the coupon rate that we issued it at, it was at 4.89 percent.  So a lower coupon rate than what --


MS. GIRVAN:  What was the initial forecast coupon rate?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  The coupon rate assumed was -- originally in evidence was 5.53.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If this Board decides that an appropriate course of action, in terms of looking at your approved debt cost, would be for you to update the debt costs ‑ and this is my question - I was wondering if you would be prepared to do that, based on the October consensus and based on the January consensus.


MR. INNIS:  Our concern would be the opening up the plan for specifically one assumption, when there is a number of assumptions that went into the plan that would also be reconsidered at the time, as well.  It would be appropriate to look at the full set as opposed to isolating out one, on one impact.  So I would be concerned that we would just do it for one item.


MS. GIRVAN:  But you have told me earlier that you actually updated in your February update the numbers based on changes in the actual debt that was issued.


So I guess what I'm seeing is the difference wouldn't be sort of what's done to date, because you've updated all of that.  It would be the forecast cost of debt going forward.


MR. INNIS:  Correct.  We did update for actual year-end 2006 results in our evidence.


MS. GIRVAN:  So I guess what -- really what I'm looking at is the forecast cost of debt based on the debt that hasn't yet been issued, given more updated financial forecasts.


MR. INNIS:  Once again, the concern would be just isolating one change as opposed to taking a full suite of everything that has changed since we filed the initial evidence.


However, if it was the Board's direction to do that, of course we would undertake to do that, but as far as from the company's position, we believe we have a set of evidence that is complete and consistent with the set of planning assumptions.


MS. GIRVAN:  Certainly.  I accept that is the company's position.  I think there might be parties here that might take a different position in final argument, and I think that several of us would like to have on the record the implications of updating your debt costs.


So I would ask if we could get an undertaking to provide that information.


MS. NOWINA:  What specifically are you looking for in your undertaking, Ms. Girvan?


MS. GIRVAN:  To update the debt costs given updated financial ‑‑ consensus forecasts from October and also January.  And my position is really based on what is often done on the gas side, is that the economic ‑‑ that the costs of debt are actually updated to reflect more recent economic forecasts.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I don't know about the gas industry, but we've been through this before, I think, in distribution.  There are two issues here.  One is can the witnesses do this in a reasonable period of time; and secondly, if they do, then what relevance would it have to the Board.  


Dealing with the first item, if I may, it would be, How much effort would it be to do this?  Not too much, I assume.  Mr. Innis?


MR. INNIS:  I believe that we would have to use what is currently available so we would determine what is the most current and do that calculation.


MR. ROGERS:  This is just on the cost of ‑‑ the forecast cost of debt.


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  So the actual doing a calculation would not be significant effort.  It is the implication of opening up planning assumptions which would be the concern.


MR. ROGERS:  We'll make the undertaking to at least get the numbers, and then we can argue about whether or not it should be ‑‑ if the Board wishes us to, we are willing to do that undertaking.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, please.


MS. LEA:  So K7.4.  What are you undertaking to do, Mr. Rogers, at this point?


MR. ROGERS:  As I understand it, to update the forecast cost of debt based on the most recent consensus forecast.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MS. GIRVAN:  Actually, I would also like the October consensus forecast, as well, please.


MR. ROGERS:  Okay?  You shall have it.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.4:  PROVIDE UPDATED FORECAST COST OF DEBT BASED ON MOST RECENT CONSENSUS FORECAST AND OCTOBER CONSENSUS FORECAST.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just one more question, Mr. Innis, if we're on sort of updates.  If this Board decides at the end of the day that the ROE formula approach is appropriate for Hydro One Transmission, have you calculated the resulting ROE?


MR. INNIS:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that?  I'm just trying to understand ‑‑


MS. GIRVAN:  If this Board decides at the end of the day that the ROE formula approach, which is set out in ‑‑ which is applicable also to distributors, is appropriate for Hydro One Transmission, have you calculated the resulting ROE?


MR. INNIS:  We've not calculated the resulting ROE based on a formula.  We've relied on Ms. McShane's evidence.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but I'm saying in the alternative, if the Board were to say, We're not going to accept Ms. McShane's recommendations.  What we're going to accept is a ROE based on the Board's approved formula.


MR. INNIS:  We would accept whatever ROE is judged to be appropriate by the Board.


MS. GIRVAN:  Have you done that calculation?


MR. INNIS:  I'm not aware that calculation has been done, in respect to transmission.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you haven't done it?


MR. INNIS:  I have not done that calculation.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  Oh, I'm sorry.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Mr. Buonaguro, are you going to go next?  All right, go ahead.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Thank you.  I will try to stay on and finish my debt cost cross‑examination, since we're now in debt frame of mind.


I would like you to look at B1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8.


From this plan, the plan calls for in 2007, $582 million in debt divided equally between terms of five-and-a-half years, ten years and 30 years; is that correct?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't know if you had your mike on when you said that.


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And similarly for 2008, the plan is to borrow $682 million divided equally across the three terms, five-and-a-half years, ten years and 30 years?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, table 3 on this page sets out the forecast interest rates for five-year, ten-year and 30‑year debt for both years; right?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And looking at the tables, the lowest debt percentages are for the five‑year rates and the highest year are percentages are for the 30‑year rates; right?


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  With ten falling in the middle, obviously.  Now, looking at a different exhibit, B2, tab 1, schedule 2. 

Okay?  Looking at this table – sorry, I'm looking at page 5.  I don't know if I said that.  Page 5.  I'm looking at column A which are the offering dates.  For 2007, you have offering dates of March, June, September, with equal borrowing on each date.  Am I understanding that right?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, the table shows that for March all of the debt is 30-year debt.  For June, all of the debt is 10-year debt.  And for September, all of the debt is five-year debt.  Is that right?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Five and a half, five-and-a-half-year debt.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Five and a half, sorry.  Could you explain to me why it is that in building this information you assume that all of the most expensive debt, the 30-year debt is issued first or borrowed first and the cheapest debt is all assumed to be borrowed last?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  These are planning assumptions that we use and actually, in actual fact, we did issue in March 30-year debt.  So we did follow these planning assumptions, in terms of execution of this plan.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But is it a necessity?  Or is it just that's how you do it?  Because the implication is clear:  You are borrowing at the highest rates first, then as you get down to the least amounts you're borrowing them at the cheapest rates.  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  Rate were really not a factor in terms of the timing of issuance.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So could you have just as easily borrowed cheaply first, and then borrowed the most expensive last?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  I guess the concern, in terms of issuing the five-year debt -- and the reason why we issued five-and-a-half-year debt was really to smooth out the maturity profile.  In 2012, we already have a significant amount of maturities.  We have got 600 million maturing.  So if we were to have issued five-year debt in 2007, it would add to that and increase the refinancing risk.  So that's why the plan laid out the issuance of five-and-a-half-year debt in September of this year, so it falls into the following year.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  Moving on to our exhibit book, and this was labelled on Friday as L6.3.  It was introduced during Mr. DeVellis's cross-examination, as I recall.  


MR. ROGERS:  The FERC decision?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm actually looking at the last -- I will be looking at the last part of it, which is the 10-year government bond yield forecast.  


So I'm looking at the very last page in the exhibit book.  All right?  Sorry, I just thought I would let you finish. 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we have it. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at this document, which is pulled from the evidence and it says in the references where the numbers come from, the forecast for the 10-year government bond yields for 2007 of 4.6 percent were based on the February 2006 forecasts.  But the forecast of the 10-year government bond yields of 4.9 percent for 2008 were based on the October 2005 forecast.  


And those are the numbers that you use in your application; right?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I understand that the reason - and this is the explanation you gave and I will give you the reference, it was J-1-129, part 3 - as an interrogatory response, where you explain the reason the difference between the sources, the February 2006 and the October 2005, was that the February 2006 consensus forecast did not go out to 2008.  Which is why it has been shown as not available in this table.  Right?  It's nothing more complicated than that, I guess. 


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now.  Looking at the October 2005 forecast which was used for the 2007, and comparing it to the February 2006 forecast, you can see that there is a difference of about 40 basis points.  


So for the October 2005 forecast you have 5 percent, and for the February 2006 forecast you have 4.6 percent which is 40 basis points.  Right?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And then even if you're looking at the difference between the October 2005 -- looking at the October 2005 forecast for 2006, you have got 4.6 percent; and the February 2006 forecast for 2006 you have 4.3 percent, which is a reduction of about 30 basis points.  Right?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  That's right.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So the question, really, is fairly simple.  If the difference between the October 2005 and February 2006 forecasts for 2006 and 2007 differ between 30 and 40 basis points' reduction, why wouldn't you make a similar adjustment for 2008?  So essentially move the 4.9 percent forecast from 4.9 to something in the order of 4.6 to 4.7, to be consistent?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  We simply used the latest consensus forecast, and the latest available consensus forecast for 2008 at the time was the October consensus forecast.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Will these figures be or possibly be changed through the undertaking given to Ms. Girvan?  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  I believe we are providing an update for the cost of debt based on the latest consensus forecast.  So they would be based on the April 2007 -- 


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  


MR. PAOLUCCI:  -- consensus forecast.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to squeeze in a question that I was told to ask this panel as opposed to an earlier panel and it has to do with the Ontario Energy Board cost deferral account, or variance account.  Sorry.  


It is actually very simple.  Your original application - and I will give you the reference, but perhaps you can take it subject to check, it is C1, tab 2, schedule 5, page 32 - shows that the forecasted 2007 transmission costs for the OEB to be 12.2 million in 2007, and 12 million, 2008.  


And that according to your answer in J-5-49 those estimates were based on the Board's 2005 to 2008 business plan.  And at that point the overall total Board costs were projected to be $34.46 million for 2007 and 2008.  


MR. INNIS:  I haven't tracked with your references.  I'm sorry.  There is a number of pieces of paper there, but carry on.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I produced for you – sorry, I submitted to you and I guess to the company, and I don't know if it ended up in your hands or not, an excerpt from the Ontario Energy Board's 2007-2010 business plan.  I think it is page 18.  


I provided copies.  I don't know if it got to the panel.  


MS. NOWINA:  Should we mark that as an exhibit, Ms. Lea?  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Did you provide copies to us, Mr. Buonaguro?  I don't have them before me, but that could be because I rely so much on Mr. Thiessen.  


It's just the one page, sir?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.   

MR. ROGERS:  Do you have that?


MR. INNIS:  No, I don't, sorry.  I would appreciate a copy.


MS. LEA:  Here.  I will do it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All this really shows, actually, is the Board has updated its total assessment to be approximately $31.8 million, which is under the 2007-2008 column.  So the prices -- sorry, the forecasts for them has gone down.


MS. NOWINA:  We need to get an exhibit number, Mr. Buonaguro.


MS. LEA:  L7.2, OEB 2007-2010 business plan.


EXHIBIT NO. L7.2:  OEB 2007-2010 BUSINESS PLAN.

MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro.  Sorry.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Basically I would ask the company if it would update its forecast for this amount to be updated in accordance with the Board's update.  Are you able to do that?


MR. INNIS:  There is a number of planning assumptions that went in, and typically we do not update for the most current information such as this.


We refreeze our plan.  So that's our typical practice.  However, subject to specific direction by the Board, we would certainly accommodate a change, but our practice is to submit our evidence based on a consistent set of the best available planning information at that time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I don't think we need to get into a legal argument about when you should or should not update.  I will explain why.  This particular amount goes into the variance account; right?


MR. INNIS:  No.  That is perhaps some of the confusion.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  This amount that you have provided to us I believe refers to the bill from the OEB for 2007 going forward.  So that would be included in our cost of service.


The values that are in our deferral accounts would have ceased at December 31st, 2006.  So the assessment from the Board that you have handed out is nothing to do with the deferral account.  It is a totally separate topic.  It is part of the regular cost of service, regular OM&A costs that would have been in the revenue requirement calculation for 2007.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have to admit you have confused me a little bit.  Let me try to explain why.


MR. INNIS:  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that you forecast your OEB costs for 2007-2008.  They're included in ‑‑ that amount is included in rates.  And then if there is any variance between your forecast and the actual, it's captured by this variance account and that you get the difference, plus or minus, as suggested.


So whatever the Board actually charges you is what you actually pay and what you can actually recover from ratepayers; is that right?


MR. INNIS:  There are two different deferral accounts, I believe, so let's get on the same page here.  There's a deferral account for the OEB assessment costs that we're asking for settlement, and that is a settled issue, other than the fact I believe the Board has some questions and the intervenors settled that.


With respect to the value going forward in 2007, we have, indeed, requested a new deferral account for any future differences in these rates, so there are no ‑‑ there's no value.  There is nothing to be settled in that account.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it is the second one I'm talking about.  Maybe it is my fault for not clarifying.  I just wanted to get as close to possible the actual amount that is going to be spent in 2007 and 2008, rather than have a true‑up later on.  So if we can avoid a true‑up later on by adjusting the forecast to match what the Board thinks it is going to cost ‑ in this case it has been adjusted down ‑ I would ask that you do that.


MR. INNIS:  We're prepared to true‑up whatever the difference is between what we actually settle and what the forecast amount is.


The plan was to do that through a deferral account, because on an annual basis that amount could be either greater or less than what we have in our rates.  So we would track that over time.


So rather than tracking it or settling it once, we propose the deferral account in order to be able to track this over time and hopefully, on balance, it will be close to the planned amount.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.  Because we have updated information and the Board has the ability to try and minimize the true‑up by getting more accurate information in this particular case, why wouldn't you do that?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, how material is it?  There's probably lots of new information at this point that we could use to update things.  Do you have a sense of materiality on this one?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the difference between the 

Board ‑‑ the numbers they used originally and the numbers they're using now is about $3-, $4 million.  So presumably the difference is at least in the millions, in terms of what will have to be trued up at the end of 2007 or 2008.


I mean, I'm a little surprised that it would be such a big deal in terms of doing it, because it's a variance account, anyway, so they will get whatever they spend.


MR. ROGERS:  No.  It's not a variance account yet.  We're asking for a variance account, but I don't believe -- at the moment there is no variance account; which is a concern to us, obviously.


And the other point I will just make, which is what I alluded to earlier when Ms. Girvan asked for the update on the forecast interest rates, is once you start down this path - perhaps I opened the door - there is no end to the number of updates that you can make.  


I mean, is the company going to be allowed to update for the cost of gasoline now?  You know, they're offsetting things.  You have to have a consistent set of assumptions underlying this rate case.


So for that reason, I submit that it's not ‑‑ it's not relevant, and hopefully there will be a variance account and it will be academic.


MS. NOWINA:  Does the witness panel agree with the materiality level that Mr. Buonaguro mentioned?


MR. INNIS:  I don't have those specific numbers at my fingertips, but based on my recollection, that number does appear to be quite high and I'm surprised that the variance would be that great.  So I would like to be able to check that.  But just as an indication, I'm surprised that the number is quoted as being in the millions.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  My assessment of the potential materiality is too high or the numbers that I gave you from the Board are too high?


MR. INNIS:  Your assessment of the materiality being in the millions of dollars, being the difference between what we had in our original budget and what the current invoice to the Board is.  I would have to check to see what that value is, but, as I mentioned, I think that number does seem quite high.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, perhaps ‑‑ are you able to, with reasonable effort, give me an idea what the update would be if you were to use ‑‑ instead of substituting the new OEB forecast for the old one?  


Are you undertaking ‑‑ at least if I know it's material enough, if you will agree with me there is a material difference, then I can decide whether I can make it in argument that, as part of the variance account, the forecast should be updated.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm not certain what you're asking for, Mr. Buonaguro.  Are you asking for an estimate of what will be in the variance account given the most recent OEB business plan?  Or what the impact of rates would be if it was more accurately ‑‑ the OEB costs were more accurately reflected in rates?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the change in the Board's forecast is a drop of about $3 million.


MS. NOWINA:  Total $3 million?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  And some of that would apportion to Hydro One Transmission?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I think theirs is about a third.  Their forecast amount was about ‑‑ I started with that.


MS. NOWINA:  So now we're talking about $1 million.


MR. BUONAGURO:  12 million and 12 million for the two years.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So they get about a third of that, it appears, or their costs are about a third of that, based on their costs.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So a $3 million drop ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Might result in a $1 million impact to Hydro One.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And, again, my understanding was that this would all be subject to a variance account, anyway.


MS. NOWINA:  Exactly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So it was a simple point.  Because it is subject to a variance account, I don't think that these arguments about when and how you should be updating are really the same kind of arguments.  We're talking about trying to get a forecast amount to try to minimize the variance down the road.


MS. NOWINA:  I agree, I'm concerned about the time of the witnesses and Hydro One --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's why I asked if they could do it in a reasonable amount of time, and I don't know if it's -- I don't know how you do the forecast, quite frankly, but I would have thought it wouldn't have been that big a deal.


MR. INNIS:  I believe your estimate is still high even at the million-dollar level.  The total costs here would be split between gas and electricity.  Electricity gets split between distribution and transmission.  Transmission would get split between ourselves and other transmitters.  So the amount keeps getting whittled down.  


So it would be small.  It wouldn't be in the multi-millions of dollars.


MR. ROGERS:  Would it be possible to give an estimate without a great deal of work?


MR. INNIS:  Certainly we do budget and business planning detail.  We would have to dig in to see what the value was included in our plan.  So, yes, I could do that with some work.


MR. ROGERS:  It is probably easier and faster just to do it.  Why don't we give the undertaking to try to give you an estimate.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. Rogers.  Thank you.  


MS. LEA:  K7.5.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.5:  to establish the value for OEB costs for transmission in 2007, and compare that to what it would be with the new Board assessment

MS. LEA:  Is it clear to the witnesses what they're undertaking?  

MR. INNIS:  I believe it is clear that we will undertake to establish the value for OEB costs for transmission in 2007.  And compare that to what it would be with the new Board assessment. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  That would be fine.  Thanks.  


Sorry.  I wish I would have been able to ask that of the original panel.  All right.  


I have some questions now about the presentation that you just gave on the -- the acronym is slipping my mind at the moment, the deferral account that you opened with -- the RDDA.  


Now, my understanding is that, generally speaking, there are four different transmission rates that are applied to Ontario customers, depending on the circumstances.  And I will give you a reference H1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 1, table 1.  


Just as a reference for the four different rates, and we're talking about, in that case, network charges, line connection charges, transformation connection charges, and wholesale service meter charges.  


My understanding is that each of these rates are applied to a different charge determinant.  Is that right?  


DR. PORAY:  In the case of the line connection transformation and network, there will be specific charge determinants related to kilowatts.  For the meter, wholesale meter pool, there is a difference set of charge determinants.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But the point is, they're different?  The four groups have distinct characteristics with respect to which charge determinants apply to them?  


DR. PORAY:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at page 3 of your slide presentation -- I'm sorry, I didn't catch the exhibit number.  


MS. LEA:  L7.1. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  L7.1.  


Can you tell me what this ten-month volume figure would capture, given that there are four different charge determinants, each with its own rate?


DR. PORAY:  I think the calculation that Mr. Innis described was based on using the monthly peak for each delivery point.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is the RDDA tracked by each of the services?  For example, is the calculation that you're talking about here done for each of these four services that I have described?  Separately?  


DR. PORAY:  Sorry, I don't understand the question. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, do you do this calculation four times, once for network charges, once for line connection charges, once for transformation charges and once for wholesale service meter charges?  Or do you do it, I guess, globally?  


MR. INNIS:  We have not done this calculation yet.  We are proposing a methodology that we could use, and would certainly try to calculate as thoroughly as possible.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You haven't done it yet and you don't know which one of those you'll do?  


MR. INNIS:  In terms of the methodology, we would have to think through the specifics and fairly apportion this account to each customer.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So that's open?  It could be one or the other way.  Or it could be some other way?  


MR. INNIS:  This is an illustrative methodology, and once we would get into the details, we would look at the specifics of each customer and make sure that we gave full value for that deficiency account or sufficiency.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, our understanding of the original submissions on the RDDA, the balances would be calculated monthly.  Is that still true?  Or has it changed?  


MR. INNIS:  The balances would be calculated once we know the amount of the approved revenue requirement for 2008.  So we need that piece of information in order to calculate it.  

Then based on that, we would calculate the RDDA balance, as though we knew that for each month during the year.  So the customer would get full value for, in our example, ten months' worth of that account.  But we can't calculate that amount until there is a decision made with respect to the revenue requirement.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Perhaps my question was simpler.  I understand there is sort of you have to wait for certain bits of information or approvals or such before you can do anything.  But ultimately, will you be calculating how much is for January, how much is for February, how much is for March?  You will be doing that monthly? 


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that would be done monthly, once we know the amount in total.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Are you still applying to -- are you still planning to apply carrying costs on a monthly basis?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we would.  We would treat this the same as we would any other deferral account and apply the Board-approved rate that's in effect at that time.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I think your presentation partly answered the next question, but let me just check.  


Looking at page 4 -- I think it's page 4.  It feels like it is stapled backwards to me so I keep flipping it around.  


You have two options here.  As I understand it, your preferred option is option number 1; right?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  We prefer option number 1.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Now, going back to my questions about the four different charges we're talking about, i.e., the network service charge, would you do this separately for each four, or has that been determined yet?  


MR. INNIS:  We need to determine how best to implement those details.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So to be determined?  


MR. INNIS:  Correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, are you able to, based on your current application, give us an idea of what the increase in revenue requirement - and I guess the corresponding rate impact  - will be under option 1 for November 1st, 2007?  Assuming that the revenue requirement you applied for is granted.  


MR. INNIS:  I don't have that information worked out.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give that to me by undertaking?  


MR. INNIS:  I'm just trying to think of what would be required for us to do that, with estimates in place.  


We could undertake to approximate what that would be and come up with a methodology that will allow us to develop a number.  But there's a number of factors we would have to take into consideration.  


MR. ROGERS:  I'm a little reluctant to undertake to do this.  Can I take it under advisement and let you know?  I just don't know what's involved with this and I don't know how -- until we have a number.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, just to add to that.  I mean I'll be looking for the same sort of information for the second option, and presumably the company has presented us with two options for implementing into rates and has one preferred option over another, but presumably the intervenors are to make submissions on which one they would prefer, if either.  


And part of that will be knowing what kind of impact they're going to have on rates.  So I guess the measure would be the current rate application.  


MS. NOWINA:  I think that's fair, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  We'll do it.  We'll do it, yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MS. LEA:  K7.6.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.6:  TO PROVIDE APPROXIMATION OF RATE IMPACT OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE RDDA ACCOUNT Under both options 1 and option 2, as described at page 4 of L7.1


MS. LEA:  Approximation of rate impact of the implementation of the RDDA account.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Under both options 1 and option 2, as described at page 4 of L7.1.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, would you agree with me that neither the utility nor the customer would ideally like to have to deal with a revenue difference deferral account if they could avoid it?


MR. INNIS:  The company has an interest in getting our revenue effective January 1 of 2007, and if that is what is required, if an RDDA is required to do that, then, yes, we do have an interest in that account.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that, but ideally you would have an effective date that's the same as the implementation date, so you would have, on ‑‑ in this case, you're looking for an effective date of January 1st.  You would have the Board order ready to go and implemented January 1st, if you had the choice.


MR. INNIS:  We would like a rate increase effective January 1st, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I don't think it's any magic that you would prefer to have an implementation date of January 1st, if that had been possible?


MR. INNIS:  January 1st, 2007 would have been ideal, but given the timing, this is where we are in reality, and this is a compromise measure that meets the company's needs and also meets the needs of clearing an earnings sharing account, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  The problem here, why you need the deferral account in this particular case, is because you need a rate order from the Ontario Energy Board first, and you had to apply for it first and that is not going to happen until sometime this summer.  You can't get the order until this summer?


MR. INNIS:  There is a natural timing as a result of this hearing, and I would expect that would be in the summertime somewhere, until we have the decision.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, would you agree that there's an obligation on the utility to file sufficiently in advance of the proposed effective date to allow for timely review and approval of your application?


MR. INNIS:  We do our best to provide ample notice.  We submitted this evidence in September 2006 for an effective anticipated rates change May 1, 2007.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But you do this because you're the ones who have the information and you're the ones applying for rates, so you're the ones who have the obligation to try to make it possible to meet an implementation date that is in advance of the effective date; right?


MR. INNIS:  We certainly are a contributor of the information, and there is other parties to the process that we work with and follow the due process to get to a hearing date.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you aware of the Energy Board projected anticipated timelines they post for different applications?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I am.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And I understand there's no timeline posted for transmitters, but that in the case of distributors the timeline is 280 days or 40 weeks; is that right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I believe that's the case.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, given that time frame for distributors, about 40 weeks, can you explain to me why an effective date of January 1st, in this case, is appropriate, when it's less than 16 weeks from the filing date of September 12th, 2006?


MR. INNIS:  The effective date of January 1st, 2007 allows us to have a rate increase or rate change in effect for the whole of 2007.  In addition, that is very helpful with respect to the requirements that we had of the earnings sharing account.  And it allows us not to have to track those earnings sharings for a part of 2008, and that was a concern to the company in 2007, I should say.  


That was a concern to the company with respect to how we would do that for the year and the uncertainty with respect to earnings sharing throughout 2007.


So having this account in place provides that certainty that we were seeking, and that is an effective way to deal with that issue.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I find it interesting that you would link it to the earnings sharing mechanism and the possibility that it may have spilled over into 2007.


Assuming that the issue of whether or not earnings sharing would have been required of you for 2007, based on the effective date of the rate order, assuming that is not connected, can you explain to me why it is that your rates should be effective January 1st, even though you only applied for rates 16 weeks before that date? 


 MR. INNIS:  We believe that is an appropriate time for us to start the rates, as we are incurring costs in 2007 relative to the full 12-month period.


So our budgeted costs for 2007 would have been effective January 1, 2007 and go through the whole year.  And that's consistent with what the company's incurring and we believe that is consistent with what we should be allowed to recover.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I will only ask one similar question.


I think your answers basically tell me why it would be good to have rates effective January 1st, 2007 and I think I understand that.  What I don't understand from your answer is why it is that when you have only applied for rates 16 weeks before that date, that you should get to have that effective rate implemented for you, when on the distribution side, for example, the expectation is that you would probably file somewhere in the order of 40 weeks or more before the effective date you're seeking.


I guess the question is what is special about this application, and why it was that it is on such short notice in terms of filing date versus effective date.


 MR. INNIS:  I think there are two steps here.  Initially when we filed the evidence, which was September 2006 and even prior to that, there was a stakeholdering process.  So we had started this process earlier in 2006.


But given that we filed in September, we were asking for an effective rate change day or anticipating effective rate change day of May 1st, 2007.  And so that would be a seven-month period that we had anticipated for planning.  


Subsequent to that, we wrote to the Board and received approval for the revenue deficiency deferral account.  That revenue deficiency deferral account and the direction that we received from the letter back from the Board indicated that it would be appropriate for us to consider January 1st, 2007 as the effective date for the rate change.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I find that interesting.


So are you suggesting that the fact that the Board allowed you to set up the account is somehow determinative of your ability to use that as an effective date?


MR. INNIS:  Setting up the accounts tracks the difference between what we currently would earn without the rate change and what we would earn with a rate change.  Setting up an account takes that into consideration effective January 1st, 2007.


So whatever the difference happens to be, whether it be greater or less than what our current approved rates would be, then we would track that amount from January 1st, 2007 going forward.  And that's consistent with what we were requested and what was agreed in the letter back from the Board to set up this account.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But my question was are you suggesting that it's something more than that, that tracking the ‑‑ that the Board's order allowing you to track it is somehow determinative of your ability to recover it?


MR. INNIS:  When we applied for tracking of that account, also part of tracking an account would be settling an account, as well.  And what we're proposing here is to settle this account as part of this proceeding, because that information would be available.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that settling this account might include denial of any amounts between January 1st and some other date in 2007 based on, for example, what may be argued as a late filing for January 1st, 2007 effective date?


MR. INNIS:  I'm sorry, I don't know what you mean by late filing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, arguably.  I'm not asking you to agree with me, but arguably, filing 16 weeks before January 1st, 2007, and then asking for an effective date, may be considered a late filing with respect to that effective date, particularly since, as you have explained, you were originally filing for a May -- I think it was May 1st, 2007 effective date.


MR. INNIS:  We certainly don't consider this a late filing.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.  I'm just saying ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  What's the question again, Madam Chair?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, he seemed to ‑‑ sorry.  Why I'm asking, it seemed to be ‑‑ some of the earlier answers seemed to suggest that the fact he has the account -- or, sorry, that the company has the account, is somehow determinative of the fact that they are entitled to recovery of all of the amounts in the account.  And I want to make sure that that is not -- well, that's certainly not my understanding, and I wanted to make sure whether that was his understanding or not. 


MR. ROGERS:  Well, the fact of the matter is, Madam Chair, the Board has an order that covers this situation.  I have just looked at it briefly.  We can argue about what the meaning of the order is and whether or not this is an open question.  


This is not a proper cross-examination question.  


MS. NOWINA:  I was finding it quite interesting, Mr. Rogers, as a matter of fact. 


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, I'm sorry to hear that. 


MS. NOWINA:  So I would like Mr. Buonaguro to continue.  


MR. ROGERS:  Very well.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  My basic question is:  Does the mere fact that you have the account, are you relying on that to justify recovery for amounts past January 1st, 2007 in this deferral account?  


MR. INNIS:  It's not so much the existence of the account that justifies recovery.  What is the trigger or the determination of the amount for recovery would be the approved revenue requirement that is established by the Board.  


Once that is approved by the Board, then the value in this account, it falls out of that.  So the examination of our overall revenue requirement is what determines the value that ultimately ends up in this account.  So it is not the mechanism itself.  It is the revenue requirement review that determines the value in this account.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's of concern to me, the way you put that.  Because that suggests to me that if -- you seem to be suggesting that if you get the revenue requirement that you've applied for for 2007, that there will be an automatic calculation of what amount will fall out of 2007 deferral account without consideration of whether you should get it.  


So for example, and I don't have -- can you perhaps give me what your applied-for revenue account is, in terms of a single number? 


MR. INNIS:  The applied-for revenue numbers?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  A billion dollars?  I can't remember.  


MR. INNIS:  It is $1.16 billion, I believe.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So you're applying for -- just say one billion, for example.  You're applying for $1 billion in rate recovery, revenue requirement recovery for 2007.  If you get that, you seem to be suggesting that you will automatically get all of that and it is just a matter of how and when.  Is that your understanding, based on the establishment of the deferral account?  


MR. INNIS:  We're applying through this rate case for the 2007 revenue requirement.  And we would assume that we would receive full value for that for a 12-month period in 2007.  

And if I could just correct a number before, my colleague has pointed out.  The 2007 revenue requirement in our evidence Exhibit E1, tab 1, schedule 1, is $1.261 billion.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So you don't anticipate an argument over whether or not you should recover anything in, I guess, the stub period between January 1st and the date of the order, because you already have a deferral account to account for it?  


MR. INNIS:  The value of the deferral account is based on the determination of revenue requirement.  And so we've calculated that account based on that.  


So as far as an assessment of that account, if that that's what you're asking, I believe that would be part of this discussion here, in terms of how that would work.  But there is not a separate review of the balance in that account, as we have it in our proposal.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So in your mind the only question is how much is the total revenue requirement, and that will determine what's in the account; then it is just a question of how do we get that money, not whether you're entitled to the money or not.  


MR. INNIS:  We would...


Based on the total approved revenue requirement, our assumption is that we are allowed to return that over a full 12-month period in 2007, January 1st to December 31st.  And we do that calculation -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, go ahead. 


MR. INNIS:  -- consistent with the approved methodology of the RDDA.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, I think you have your answer.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think so too.  Thank you for the indulgence.  

I have one topic left, the earnings sharing mechanism.  For that I would like you to turn – again, this is in Exhibit L6.3, our exhibit book.  We have included it at, it's -- this is document number C.  I apologize, there isn't a global page numbering system here, so it's...

It's the third document in the book.  I'm looking at page 6.


MR. INNIS:  The title of the document would be?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  It's "OEB Decision EB-2005-0501", dated February 21st, 2006.  It is the decision, generally speaking, that sets out the earnings sharing mechanism.  I'm looking at page 6.  

Now, as a prelude to looking at page 6, my understanding -- we actually went through this with an earlier panel.  I'm sorry. 


MR. ROGERS:  I wanted to make sure he had it. 


MR. INNIS:  I've got it.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that the transmission rates that were applied in 2006 were based on the pre-Rudden common cost allocation method.  Is that right?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  The rates in 2006 would have been those approved by the Board for the year 2000.  So that is pre-Rudden.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And that once you apply the Rudden methodology, it shifts costs between distribution and transmission, generally speaking.  That is what happens when you apply the Rudden to the old amounts, to the old allocation. 


MR. INNIS:  Rudden would allocate common costs between transmission and distribution, correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And generally speaking, differently than how you used to do it before?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, if you look at page 6.  And I think it is important -- I am going to read the excerpt into the record, because of how -- we had a little bit of a discussion of this with an earlier panel about how this section is interpreted to apply to the earnings sharing, so I wanted to read this into the record.  Again, this is page 6 of the decision in EB-2005-0501 dated February 21st, 2006.  


I am starting with the first full paragraph on page 6.  


It says:  

"Before the Board answers the above questions, it will first address a matter arising from the 2006 Hydro One Distribution Rate Hearing (RP-2005-0020/EB-2005-0378) underway concurrently with this application.  That proceeding has provided evidence regarding the reallocation of costs between Hydro One's transmission and distribution operations.  While cost allocations went in both directions, there seems to have been a net reduction in cost allocation to transmission at the expense of distribution.  

While the final disposition of the cost allocation issue in a distribution hearing has not been made at this time the Board wishes to consider the potential for double recovery of certain costs by Hydro One in the 2006 rate year, by having the costs of certain activities and assets included in both the existing rates of transmission, and the new rates of distribution to avoid that unreasonable result.  

...the Board orders Hydro One Transmission to report revenue changes for the 2006 rate year resulting from the Board's decision on cost allocation in RP-2005-0020/EB-2005-0378.  The report will be reviewed with the objective of crediting the resulting cost allocation adjustment to transmission customers in the 2007 rate application.  

The Board finding that follow, regarding excess earnings, are based upon earnings after this cost allocation adjustment is made."


Now, I guess to summarize, once the Rudden methodology was introduced, the idea was that you were to report on how the Rudden methodology would have net reduced transmission costs for 2006, and, whatever that amount was, you were to credit that to ratepayers before you determined the earnings sharing.  That's my understanding of those four paragraphs.


Is that your understanding of those four paragraphs?


MR. INNIS:  Not the same understanding as that, no.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I understand you didn't do this.  You didn't actually report, for example, on the impact of the Rudden methodology on 2006 rates as part of your application; is that correct?


MR. INNIS:  That's not included in our application.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain to me why?


MR. INNIS:  When we read the pages that you just quoted into the record, we interpreted that to be a caution to make sure that the sum of the parts equal the whole, in the sense that if there were costs, that it shifted to distribution.  Then we would need to make sure that we would not be including those costs in transmission in 2007.


So what we did was, after the Rudden study was approved, we made sure that we implemented that for transmission and distribution.  

So there indeed was a shift in costs from transmission to distribution, and we made sure that because those costs would now be in distribution, which increased our total distribution revenue requirement, we made sure that there was a commensurate reduction on the transmission side.  And those costs were not in our 2006 OM&A costs for transmission.


So we believe that we ensured that both parts were covered off, rather than having the Rudden methodology we used for distribution and a 2000 methodology to be used for transmission.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You will have to give me a second, because I'm trying to understand that.


Are you saying that when you reported your 2006 actuals, you made deductions based on the Rudden methodology?


MR. INNIS:  No, there would not be deductions based on the Rudden methodology.


What we would have in our 2006 actuals is costs or OM&A costs that would reflect the impact of the Rudden study.  So it's not a deduction.  It's just that the cost allocation in 2006 would have reflected the Rudden study and the impact on both transmission and distribution.


So our 2006 operating results would reflect the Rudden allocation percentages that were approved as part of the distribution hearing.  

That's what we want to be careful of and that's what we thought this direction in this document was asking us to do.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, but the rates that you charged in 2007 were based on the rate order you received in 2000, right, or ‑‑


MR. INNIS:  2006 or 2007, sorry?


MR. BUONAGURO:  2006.  The rates that you recovered in 2006 were calculated on the basis of an order from 2000 ‑‑ applied for in 1999, I believe, and for 2000?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  Those rates would have been approved in 1999, I believe it was, and that was based on a cost allocation that would have been in place in the company in 1998, based on the corporate structure and the business model at that time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And those rates were, therefore, based on an allocation of transmission ‑‑ sorry, an allocation of common cost to transmission, based on the pre-Rudden methodology?


MR. INNIS:  There would have been some allocation based on the methodology in place at that time.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And that methodology ‑‑ sorry.  The rates for 2006 themselves were not changed to account for this change in methodology?


MR. INNIS:  The rates were not changed.  However, the components of the common costs that are implicit in those rates would have been different in 2006 than what it would have been when we set those rates in the year 2000.


So the rate itself isn't changed, but the portion of common costs reflecting those rates in 2000 was under a different business model, and the value of that is not necessarily the same as the value that's the same for 2000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, okay.  Perhaps I can turn you to an undertaking response that we received earlier in the proceeding.  This is Exhibit K, tab 5, schedule 3.  So 

K-5-3.  It was filed May 11th, 2007.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You have it?  Now, this undertaking asks the company to do what we believe the Board was requiring you to do for this case, which was to estimate the impact of the Rudden methodology on its 2006 costs.


And to summarize, the company concluded that the common corporate functions and services line item, transmission costs decreased by about 5 million in 2006; that customer care costs for transmission decreased by $2 million in 2006; that asset management costs allocated to transmission decreased by about $8 million in 2006; and that information management costs allocated to transmission increased by about $5 million in 2006.  Is that correct?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you take the positives and the minuses and you net them off against each other, you get what looks like an approximation by the company of about $10 million in costs that were allocated to transmission in 2006 because of the pre-Rudden methodology, but which, once you applied the Rudden methodology, shouldn't have been there?


MR. INNIS:  I wouldn't say that they were allocated to the 2006.  Those costs were never allocated to transmission in 2006.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You're going to confuse me, so let me step back a second here.


What this says -- the document I think speaks for itself.  It says if you take 2006, based on how it was allocated on the pre-Rudden methodology and you apply Rudden to it, some numbers pop out.  And what pops out net, it's a $10 million reduction in transmission costs for 2006.


MR. INNIS:  I see what you mean.  If we would have used the Rudden methodology in ‑‑ we did use the Rudden methodology in 2006.  If we would have used the previous allocation methodology -- and what this analysis does is use the percentage that was in place for 2005, because we didn't do pre-Rudden 2006.  We did Rudden in 2006.  So we used 2005 allocation percent as a proxy for what may have been allocatable to transmission in 2006.


So when we did this undertaking, we said, How best could we do this?  And that's the best we could do.  The 2005 percentage that we had to use wouldn't necessarily be that same percentage that we would have used in 2006, because the business shifts, in terms of time and effort spent on transmission, distribution.  So we just use 2005 as a proxy for 2006.


And in 2006 we had the full Rudden implementation.  So those costs never did end up in transmission in 2006.  The full Rudden would have shifted those costs to distribution.


MR. BUONAGURO:  See, the whole thrust of what you were directed to do in this decision, which I read from, was to account for the fact that your distribution rates for 2006 were going to be based on the Rudden allocation.  And that as a result of the Rudden allocation, money that was being recovered in rates from transmission would suddenly be recovered in rates for distribution.  


So using these numbers, your distribution rates for 2006 were $10 million more than they would have been based on the pre-Rudden methodology.  That's how I understand that.  


MR. INNIS:  I wouldn't agree with that.  And the reason being is there are a number of changes in the business since 2000, and we can't go back and say what were the -- what is the 2006 version of what we had in rates in 2000, because of business model changes, because of organizational changes, because of inflation, because of productivity.  


So you can't just take the absolute dollar value that was in place in 2000 and say, Oh, let's deduct that from what you now have as a result of the Rudden implementation.  


There have been a host of changes in the business.  You can't just isolate that one component.  

But what we did do is go back to 2005 as a proxy for what it might have been, but that has its limitations in terms of accuracy. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that the number may not be dead on.  But it certainly gives you an idea of scale, doesn't it?  


MR. INNIS:  It was our best attempt to answer the undertaking, to provide that information to you.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is this issue addressed in the main filing?  My impression is that it is not.  Let me be more specific.  


The page that I read out from page 6 of that decision is very specific.  It orders you, I would argue -- well, no.  It says:  

"The Board orders Hydro One transmission to report revenue changes for the 2006 rate year resulting from the Board's decision on cost allocation in RP-2005-0020/EB-2005-0378."  


I would have thought that some of what you're trying to explain to me now and which I maybe am not understanding on the fly, would have been as part of in your main filing, you would explain why it was that you weren't going to do this.  And if it's there, let me know and point it to me.  


MR. INNIS:  Our main filing was submitted in September 2006.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  


MR. INNIS:  And the ESM evidence was added in an update to that early in 2007.  Initially, because of the timing of the hearing, we weren't envisaging bringing ESM forward as part of this hearing but because of the timing, it allowed us to clear this up at the same time.  We added that in our February update.  

So the reason there is no discussion of this in our initial filing is we didn't envisage coming forward with ESM in September.   


However, because of the availability of audited statements and year-end financial results, there was an opportunity to address this as part of this hearing, so we chose to bring it forward at this time.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now you say you brought it forward in, by adding ESM, earnings sharing mechanism, to the filing.  What was that date again?  


MR. INNIS:  The date of the evidence for earnings sharing?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  


MR. INNIS:  Just let me get that for you.  I believe it's February 23rd, 2007.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  And how is this issue addressed there?  


MR. INNIS:  The issue of the order -- 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Requiring you to report on the revenue changes for the 2006 rate year as a result of the change in cost allocation.  


MR. INNIS:  This issue is not specifically addressed in the February 23rd, 2007 update.  


Our understanding of what that was requiring us to do was to ensure that we had not double-counted and that we fully implemented both parts of the Rudden study.  


We could provide that information to you, but it's not part of the current body of evidence.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  So what you're telling me now is that you can't explain why it is not accounted, you just haven't done it yet.  Other than what you have said in response to my questions today.  


MR. INNIS:  I believe there is an interrogatory that dealt with this, in terms of the CF&S portion of the costs.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  We asked that.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  You gave us the one portion, and it was the undertaking in the oral hearing that provided the numbers for customer care, total asset management and information management.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  But it still remains you never have actually given the full explanation, and it sounds somewhat complicated to my ears about why it is that there is no double-counting.  So perhaps it would be appropriate to take an undertaking on this issue to get a fuller explanation of why it is that you aren't required to meet the Board's order on page 6 of this decision.  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, if we take out the pejorative preamble, I am certainly willing to take an undertaking to address what I think is being gotten at here.  


If I understand it correctly -- I'm not sure I do, but I thought an answer had been provided.  But I want to be sure a satisfactory answer is provided to the Board.  So can we take an undertaking to do that? 


MS. NOWINA:  I think it's a good idea, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I'm not sure I understand the undertaking.  Is it to report as described in the Board's decision?  Or is it to explain -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Well, yes.  Good question.  I think what I would like to do is say that we will file an undertaking answer which responds to the Board's directive at page 6 of that Decision. 


MS. LEA:  So call it response to Board's directive.  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. NOWINA:  The number?  


MS. LEA:  Sorry.  Yes.  K7.7.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.7:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO THE BOARD'S DIRECTIVE AT PAGE 6 OF DECISION IN EB-2005-0501


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think I may have extended my time a teeny bit because of that but I thought it was important.  And I was a little surprised at how it was coming out. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Are you still continuing, Mr. Buonaguro?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I have two small points.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think they're small.  


You put forward precedents for the proposed decision of the DSM deferral account, what we have called the Iowa decision and the Georgia decision and we have included copies for convenience's sake.    


No, we haven't.  They're in my same exhibit book, L6.3, and they are documents D and E in that book.  

As I understand your proposal, you want to -- I don't know if "attain" is the right word, but you want to take whatever is in the earnings sharing account for customers and apply it to capital projects, two particular capital projects.  Is that a simplified description of what you want to do? 


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MR. BUONAGURO:  The two precedents are the Iowa decision and Georgia decision.  I just wanted to point out and maybe you could confirm.  With respect to the Iowa case, our understanding from the decision is that the treatment of excess earnings, which you're relying on as a precedent for part of an overall settlement agreement, addressed a number of issues including a revenue freeze to the period to 2011.  That is from the Iowa decision at tab D of VECC Exhibit L6.3, and that's sort of a summary of page 5 to 7.  Is that your understanding?  

The two main points being it was a settlement agreement of various issues, and it was in the context of a revenue freeze.  


MR. INNIS:  That appears to be the case. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  With respect to the George decision which is at tab E of VECC Exhibit L6.3, the treatment of earnings sharing there, which you're relying on, was provided in lieu of implementing a rate reduction.  


So the result -- my sort of shorthand understanding and this is Paragraph 10 of that decision -- instead of returning the rate -- sorry.  

Instead of returning the monies in the earnings sharing to customers, which would have created a rate reduction in that case, they came up with this contributed capital scheme; right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in this case you're not asking for rate freeze; right?


MR. INNIS:  No, we're not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And you're not asking for a rate reduction?


MR. INNIS:  No, we're not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  The particular treatment in this case, you have linked it to two particular projects, the southern Georgian Bay reinforcement project and the Hurontario switching station project; right?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And, generally speaking, because your proposal is to treat the excess earnings as a capital contribution towards those projects, the customers don't actually see a benefit in terms of rate impact until the projects are in service; right?


MR. INNIS:  In terms of rate impact, they would see a benefit when the project is in service through lower depreciation charges and a lower return they would be earning, because the capital costs is [inaudible].


MR. BUONAGURO:  But in a sense, the benefit is deferred until it is in service?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me when those projects are currently projected to be in service?  I believe it is in the year 2009.


MR. INNIS:  I believe that's the case.  When we put the proposal forward, we consciously chose projects that would become in service in the shorter time frame.


With respect to the Hurontario switching, the last dollars would be spent in 2009.  So what that means is sometime during 2009 that project would be in service 

and --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have any ‑‑ sorry.  Did you want to finish?


MR. INNIS:  And I was just going to let you know in terms of the southern Georgian Bay project as well.  The last dollars that we have spent would be in 2009.  So that project would be in service in 2009, also.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do you have any more specific date, like a month in 2009?


MR. INNIS:  I am basing my information on the investment justification, and it's by year.  I don't have specific in-service by month.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  So we have established that the benefit is deferred until in service, and the full benefit won't be realized until the projects are fully depreciated; right?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, for these particular projects, do you know what the expected life span is -- or, sorry,  depreciation period?


MR. INNIS:  Looking at the two projects, one is a TS and the other is a switching station.  I would take this subject to check, but it would probably be in the 40‑year life range, would be my expectation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So that means that, generally speaking, it will be approximately 40 years or longer before customers are refunded the monies that they overpaid for transmission in 2006?


MR. INNIS:  If I'm accurate on my assumption of the service life, yes; but it would be a greater period of time than what immediately recovery would be, certainly.  Forty years is an estimate.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But it is in that scale, in terms of period.  


I think those are my questions.  I think I went 15 minutes over total.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  We will take a 20-minute break now and resume at five minutes past 3:00.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:46 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 3:11 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  


Mr. DeVellis, did you plan ongoing next?


MR. DeVELLIS:  would be happy to.  Thank you. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY Mr. DEVellis:  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, panel.  I want to ask about the prior period adjustments that you propose to make to your earnings sharing calculation.  You have described these at Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 2, page 12.  


And there are two adjustments that you propose.  One is a result of a tax appeal, and the other is a result of negotiation with Ontario Power Generation regarding property tax expenses.  Is that right?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the impact of removing those two items from your 2006 results is $30.2 million, and the impact to ratepayers, which is 50 percent of that, is $15.1 million; is that right? 


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  At the technical conference, you were asked whether these two items were treated as net income in your 2006 financial statements and you replied at page 25 and 26 of the technical conference transcript - you don't need to turn it up - but that they were treated -- they were for the Hydro One consolidated statements, they would therefore be in the audited financial statements for transmission once they are completed.  


And you subsequently filed financial statements for the transmission business.  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you confirm that these prior period adjustments were included in your 2006 results in the financial statements for the transition business.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can confirm that.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  The reason that you gave at the technical conference as to why they were included in your financial statements, even though you now say the prior period, that they should be removed from the earnings sharing, they were included in the financial statements as a result of standard accounting rules.  Is that right?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you just explain that for us, then?  


MR. INNIS:  When we say standard accounting rules, we refer to generally accepted accounting principles, and in the case of these two items, we reflect the impact of those when there is certainty, when there is a known event.  


So in both of these cases, the trigger or the known point of certainty was in 2006.  So in the case of the adjustment for the settlement of property tax with OPG, we were in negotiations with OPG for a number of years.  It wasn't until late 2006 that it was known with certainty, the impact of what the impact of those negotiations would be.  


When we did know the impact, then it was reflected in our financial records.   


In similar fashion, the income tax adjustments, we received the refund after a review by the Ministry of Finance.  We received that refund in 2006.  2006 was a point where we had sufficient certainty from an accounting point of view to be able to recognize those transactions.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Would those rules apply to expenses, as well?  In other words, is it possible you had recorded expenses in 2006 which were from prior periods?  


MR. INNIS:  We would do accruals at the end of the year to ensure our financial statements are accurate.  There perhaps -- in some cases there wouldn't be expenses for prior periods, but there could be the culmination or we would know with certainty an event that would happen that would have an impact on those statements related to a prior period.  


Typically an expense wouldn't relate to a prior period.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, let me give you an example.  If there was, say, a very large severance payment made in December 2006 which could arguably be for periods beyond 2006, would that be recorded as an expense in 2006?  


MR. INNIS:  We would look at the accounting recognition criteria.  If the nature of that expense related to 2006, it would be expensed in 2006.  


If a payment were to be made in 2006 for a future period, such as prepaid insurance, for example, then we would accrue the amount for the future period.  But we would align expenses with the period that that expense was incurred.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I was hoping to avoid a specific example, but for example, the severance for your former CEO which was paid out in the fall of last year, would that have been recorded in your 2006 results?  

MR. INNIS:  I'm not familiar with the details of that, but if it was paid out in 2006, I would expect that to have been included in 2006 expenses.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can you turn to the decision in EB-2005-0501, which is included in Exhibit L6.3.  


Now, I'm looking at page 6.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Mr. Buonaguro referred you to the top part of that page, and I'm going to read from the bottom part, going on to page 7 as well.  


That's under the heading:  "Should earnings sharing be based on Hydro One's financial statements?"  It says: 

"The question of whether the review is on the basis of Hydro One's financial statements as requested by Hydro One or a more standard revenue requirement filing, as proposed by ratepayer groups and others, is best addressed after the Board has considered its expectation for the standard of the review."  


And then go on to the next paragraph: 

"The Board accepts Hydro One's proposal to use actual results from its audited financial statements, (Transmission) as the basis for determining earnings for 2006."  

Then a little farther down that paragraph: 

"The use of the utility's financial statements and a predetermined mechanical approach to determining earnings for 2006, while not ideal, is a practical approach."  


Then finally at the end of that paragraph: 

"The prospect of a prudence review of the utility's historical costs will not bode well for the need to have as certain an investment environment as possible."  


So the first point I glean from that is that the use of the financial statements as a basis for the 2006 earnings sharing was Hydro One's suggestion.  


MR. INNIS:  We suggested that we use the 2006 audited statements as the base for the calculation, correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  In fact, the intervenor group, the ratepayer groups were opposed to an earnings sharing mechanism and preferred to have your rates for 2006 based on a more conventional cost-of-service review.  


MR. INNIS:  Some other mechanism; correct. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  And that's because an earnings sharing mechanism, if you're over-earning, an earnings sharing mechanism returns half of the value to ratepayers as opposed to the entire value if you do a full review of your costs.  


MR. INNIS:  Depending on the type of earnings sharing mechanism, that would be correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And using the financial statements as the basis for the earnings sharing mechanism was done for pragmatic reasons.  There is timing as well as concern with over-investor confidence in the event historic costs were reviewed?


THE DEPONENT:  Yes, that's correct.  And that's why we used the audited statements as a basis of the earnings sharing calculation.


MR. DeVELLIS:  As a result of that, we don't get to go back and review the prudence of your 2006 costs?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So we don't get to argue, for example, that the large increase in your SDO OM&A from your originally planned amount to the actual results should not be included in the earnings sharing mechanism?


MR. INNIS:  We're relying on the audited statements for the basis for the calculation.


MR. DeVELLIS:  We don't get to go back through your financials and argue that certain expenses should not be included in the 2006 financials?


MR. INNIS:  I suppose you could make that argument, but we base our calculation on the audited statements.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, that could be a very time-consuming exercise, though; do you agree?


MR. INNIS:  Perhaps.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And, incidentally, the other trade-off that the Board made for reasons of its expediency, if you look at page 8 of the decision, is to keep your ROE for 2006 at 9.88 percent, despite the fact that the distributors were being adjusted downward to 9 percent in 2006?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.  The Board did allow that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It says in the middle of page 8:

"For the reasons set out above the Board finds it expedient, fair and reasonable to allow the continued use of 9.88 percent ROE."  


Do you see that there?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And, in addition, Hydro One proposed an adjustment to actual results to use weather-normalized rather than actual earnings for the earnings sharing calculation?


MR. INNIS:  In our initial proposal, I believe that was one of the components, amongst other things, that we had suggested, and that was not part of the final decision.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  We see under -- well, three-quarters of the way down on page 8, just above the heading "Should under-earnings matter?", the Board said: 

"Hydro One's proposal", referring to the weather-normal proposal, "...would add a level of complexity in determining excess earnings and that would be contrary to the Board's efforts to keep the 2006 process as simple as possible.  For these reasons, the Board concludes that actual and net income should not be normalized for weather."  


Do you see that there?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you asked for a specific adjustment to your actual results and were rejected on the basis that that would add complexity to the model?


MR. INNIS:  The weather normalization suggestion was not accepted because of complexity.  We've made these two adjustments that have been discussed already, because they would not be complex in nature, and they are material and they are consistent with the decision of the Enbridge hearing, where the applicant was required to make an adjustment for prior period at cost.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, the point is you are cherry-picking two particular adjustments when, if we were to go through your 2006 results, there may be adjustments in the other direction.  The point is to have a simple mechanism, and it is not fair to pick out two adjustments and say, Oh, we're not going to look at these, but everything else will be based on actual results.


MR. INNIS:  In terms of our OM&A costs, we did not cherry-pick.  As part of this process, we took a look at material amounts and we set a threshold of $100,000, and we looked at amounts that could be perhaps judged to relate to a prior period that were booked in 2006.


In doing that, we identified the two that we have discussed already.  There were a host of other smaller ones that we identified.  Those items reflected a net difference of about $4 million that we would have further reduced our net income as a result of that.


So we took a thorough look at this and identified these two that we've put forward, and we did not put forward other adjustments which would have resulted in higher net income to the company.


So we've made a fairly thorough search for these items from our year end records, and we did not ‑‑ did not cherry-pick those amounts.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, the point is if intervenors were to engage in a thorough review of your 2006 actual results to determine, for example, which expenses shouldn't be included in your earnings sharing for prior period or forward period expenses, that could be a time-consuming exercise and add complexity to the model, which the Board was trying to avoid.


MR. INNIS:  We thought it would be appropriate for us to look at items from prior periods that would have had an impact on 2006 as a fair adjustment to be made, and this is the result of that review.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You mentioned the Enbridge decision.  I have handed out a copy to your counsel and to the Board Staff.


MS. LEA:  Do you wish that marked for identification, Mr. DeVellis?  It's not really an exhibit, but we can mark it so you can refer to it, if it's helpful.


MS. NOWINA:  I like to mark them, Ms. Lea, and then we can keep track of them.


MS. LEA:  We can mark it, then, L7.3.


EXHIBIT NO. L7.3:  ENBRIDGE DECISION

MR. DeVELLIS:  What you say in your evidence at tab A, schedule 17 -- Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 2, page 11, and I don't know if you need to turn it up, that this decision stands for the authority that the determination of excess earnings in the year should not include significant one-time accounting transactions result in prior-year issues that are unrelated to operations of a period.


 If you could turn to the ‑‑ the pages aren't numbered, but paragraph 39 of the Enbridge decision, which is on the fourth page.


What the Board ‑‑ I'm just going to read those three paragraphs: 

"The Board must determine whether..." 

- paragraph 39 -

"... the $26 million non‑recoverable receivable may be fairly and reasonably used to reduce the earnings in 2004 in calculating the share of earnings attributable to ratepayers in that year."


Paragraph 40:

"EGDI's decision to write off the $26 million as a non‑recoverable receivable based upon the Board's prior decisions is a clear indication that it was not recoverable from rates either now or in the past."


Paragraph 41:

"The coincidental accounting treatment of this write-off in 2004 should not now reduce the ratepayers' share of earnings in the year of the write-off.  Earnings determination should be unfettered by differing accounting treatments and related reporting inclusions and exclusions."


So the operative paragraph there is paragraph 40, where it says that the receivable was non‑recoverable either now or in the past.


The Board was saying allowing EGD to write off the receivable in 2004 would, in effect, convert a non‑recoverable receivable into partially recoverable receivable.


It was the timing of recording in 2004 that was a problem, because that receivable would otherwise be not recoverable.  Do you see what I'm saying?


MR. INNIS:  I believe Enbridge was trying to treat that amount as a write-off in that period, even though it related to prior periods, and that was reducing their net income that would have been shared.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But the point is that that receivable was not recoverable from ratepayers in prior years or in that year.  The only reason it would be partially recoverable is if they're allowed to write it off in 2004 because of the earnings sharing mechanism.


MR. INNIS:  Enbridge would have been trying to deal with the fact they had that outstanding receivable, relating to their customers, to allow that to be written off as part of the 2004 costs.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  The only way that Enbridge would get anything from that receivable is if they happened to write it off in a year where there is an earnings sharing mechanism.  In any other year, there wouldn't be, because it's non-recoverable.  


MR. INNIS:  That perhaps was the case.  I would have to think through further what the Enbridge circumstance was and what they were dealing with in detail.  But from a principle point of view, I believe you're correct.  


I would also point out in the paragraph prior to the ones that you read, at paragraph 38, and this is from the Enbridge decision as well, I think it would be helpful for consideration:  

"The submissions filed by SEC, CCC, IGUA and VECC took issue with the treatment that recognizes the 26 million non-recoverable receivable as a charge to utility fiscal 2004 earnings.  The submissions placed particular emphasis on the need in the earnings sharing calculation to differentiate between earnings for regulatory purposes and those for financial accounting and reporting purposes."  


And we believe that is what we've done in this particular that we submitted.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now the other aspect of your proposal is to have the earnings sharing payment paid out as a capital contribution.  And I believe the two projects that you want to dedicate the funds to, you spoke about them with Mr. Buonaguro.  And you mentioned that they would be in service in 2009?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  This proposal is similar to your supply mix proposal in that you would be receiving funding for projects now that wouldn't be in service until a later date.  


MR. INNIS:  It's similar to the supply mix projects, in the sense that we're trying to address a very large capital program.  And through whatever appropriate means possible, if we can use funds to help finance our capital program to reduce our capital borrowing, then that is what we're trying to do. 


This would be part of an overall set of initiatives that help us address our large capital program.  So it's not the same as supply mix, but it's a similar purpose that we're trying to achieve.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  You mentioned the RDDA earlier.  Now, if the earnings sharing payment, depending on the size of the earnings sharing and depending on the size of the revenue deficiency, was paid out all at once, it would reduce the amount of the RDDA.  Do you agree with that?  It would offset some of the resulting rate riders or whatever mechanism you use to recover the RDDA?  


MR. INNIS:  It would not impact the RDDA.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry.  Not the RDDA specifically, but it would impact the amount that you would have to recover from ratepayers.  


MR. INNIS:  So if you're suggesting that instead of using these funds from ESM as contributed capital, that we, to classify them as a deferral account, then we would dispose of the deferral account over a four-year period.  


So I would say that ESM disposition would be similar to a deferral account.  It's not appropriate to tie it up in the RDDA calculation.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Was there a direction from the Board - I didn't see it in the order in 0501 - as to how the amounts should be paid out?  


MR. INNIS:  No.  I don't believe there was a direction.  I believe the intent was the ESM would be subject to review and disposition at a future point in time.  Just let me check the Board decision and I can state something for you.  


On page 6 of the Board's decision, it's really alluding to a future point in time.  And talking about the Board findings regarding excess earnings, or based upon earnings after this cost allocation adjustment is made, and that would be adjusted in the future.  It's not specifically tied into this proceeding.  It's just in the future that would be dealt with.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  So your proposal, if the company's proposal is to pay out the earnings sharing in the form of a capital contribution is rejected, your proposal would be to pay it out like a deferral account over four years?  


MR. INNIS:  Certainly, our preference would be as contributed capital, to help alleviate our capital plans.  


However, if it's judged not to be approved, then we would consider paying it out through a typical deferral account practice, a feasible alternative.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I have just a few questions on the RDDA itself.  


Can you tell me, are your existing rates, the rates as of January 1st, 2007, interim rates?  


MR. INNIS:  My understanding is these are approved rates that we have, and part of the RDDA decision was to avoid having interim rates.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But the rates as of January 1st, 2007 were final rates?  


DR. PORAY:  That is our understanding.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And your proposal for the RDDA is to take consumption for the January 1st period onwards and essentially tack a premium on to that consumption for the period from when the new rates are implemented, going forward.  


MR. INNIS:  No.  That's not the case.  What we are proposing to do -- and is going through the illustrative example -- is to use our approved 2007 revenue requirements and then calculate how much of that would have been earned over that ten-month period in our example, and deduct from that what we would have earned at current rates.  


So I wouldn't characterize that as being a premium.  It's the difference between what the -- is approved as part of this proceeding and what we would have received in revenue had there been no adjustment to rates at all.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry.  I worded it awkwardly.  But essentially what you're intending to do is to take whatever rates are in place now and take the difference between those rates and the new rates and charge that difference for the period January 1st, to whenever the rates are implemented.  


MR. INNIS:  That's a characterization or a summary of what would be -- the mechanics are a bit more complicated than that, but that's a high level summary of what would be taking place. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  So essentially you're going back in time and charging ratepayers based on past consumption -- new rates based on past consumption. 


MR. INNIS:  No.  The consumption would be based on our 2007 forecast.  So it's a forecast of consumption that is expected to take place from January 1st, 2007 up until October 2007.  So it's not past consumption.  It is forecast consumption for 2007 that we're basing the calculation on. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, past in the sense that it has already happened.  I mean you said from January 1st until October 31st, 2007.  


MR. INNIS:  That hasn't happened yet.  So what we would be doing is, we could base that calculation on the forecast.  It's not basing it on history.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, Mr. Buonaguro was asking you about the application being filed in September 2006.  Can you tell me why the application wasn't filed until September 2006 if you wanted rates to be in place for January 1st, 2007?   


MR. INNIS:  We filed in September 2006, and in looking at the schedule for proceedings and typically what time would be involved in due process, May 2007 was the schedule date that we thought would be feasible to implement a rate change.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So your reasonable expectation, I suppose, is that you would have rates in place for May 1st, 2007 when you filed in September 2006?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You didn't have an expectation that rates would be in place for January 1st, 2007?


MR. INNIS:  In terms of any rate adjustment approved by this Board, that's correct.  However, we did have an earnings sharing account which, when we were directed to establish that account, that account was required to be maintained in -- on an ongoing basis.  So the account was not going to wrap up at December 31st, 2006.  That account was continuing on into 2007.


And so what we could have had is that earnings sharing account going on for 2007, which would have had to be settled up at some point.  Because of the revenue deficiency deferral account, we don't have to track that earnings sharing for 2007. 


 MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you turn ‑‑ do you have the 0501 decision open?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  At page 2 of the decision, under where it says "The notice of hearing included the following", and the second paragraph there says:

"Accordingly, the Board will begin this proceeding by holding a hearing on the alternatives for treatment of utility earnings for the period of January 1st, 2006 until revised transmission rates are implemented."  


Do you see that there?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So essentially you're interpreting the last part of that sentence, "until revised transmission rates are implemented", as until January 1st, 2007?


MR. INNIS:  I'm just reading the context here.  Just give me a moment, please.


Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, can you turn to page 8 of the decision under the heading "Should under-earnings matter?"


It says:

"In conjunction with this proposal for a dead-band, Hydro One proposed that it should be protected in the event that its earnings fall below 2 percent of the authorized rate of return on its common equity.  

The Board does not accept Hydro One's proposal.  Hydro One was willing to forego a review for 2006, meaning it would have been at risk of not recovering the shortfall in the event that the utility did not achieve the previously Board-authorized rate of return."


And my question is:  Why shouldn't that apply to 2007, as well?  You're asked to come in for 2006 and you didn't; and now you're in 2007.  Why shouldn't the Board's logic there apply to your 2007 earnings, as well?


MR. INNIS:  We're filing a full cost-of-service-based revenue requirement for 2007.  So all of our costs for 2007 are subject to review by this Board.  And so it's part of our evidence as far as all of the 2007 costs, not just specifically those that we're trying to be -- considered through any earnings sharing adjustment.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you didn't file in time to have rates in place for January 1st, 2007, so why should you ‑‑ you're effectively asking for relief so that you don't under-earn in 2007.  

And what I'm suggesting to you is the Board's logic for 2006 would apply equally to 2007.


MR. INNIS:  We took the Board order and applied that to 2007, and we believe we're following the intent of that order.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


Mr. Rodger, you want to go next?


MR. RODGER:  Yes.  My friends have already addressed my areas, so I have no further questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. MacIntosh, do you want to go next?


MR. MacINTOSH:  Our questions have already been answered, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Stephenson?  I guess his questions were already answered.


MR. ROGERS:  I guess so.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Long?


MR. LONG:  No further questions.  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have some questions.  


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, I want to ask you questions on four topics today, please.  I wanted to begin with following up on something that Ms. Girvan spoke to you about, and that is the calculation of the return on equity, if you apply the distribution formula.  I'm going to call it that, even though we're suggesting it apply to you, as well.


You have not done that calculation?


MR. INNIS:  We have not done that calculation.


MS. LEA:  Would you be willing to provide that calculation by way of undertaking?


MR. INNIS:  I'm just thinking how we would do this.  The calculation was set up for distribution, so we would have to make some specific assumptions with respect to transmission, as far as productivity and inflation and those types of things.  So with some assumptions, I believe we could come up with something.


MS. LEA:  I don't mind if you make assumptions as long as they're clear, but could you not simply use the formula that we used in setting distribution rates in our recent report and indicate whether you believe those are accurate or inaccurate, if you please, but use the productivity assumptions we used there? 


MR. INNIS:  Mathematically, we could calculate that, and I would -- we would have to perhaps put some notes to discuss what our assumptions would be and ‑‑


MS. LEA:  That would be fine.  Thank you.  It's really the calculation that I am interested in.


Could that be undertaking K 7.8, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.8:  PROVIDE CALCULATION OF RETURN ON EQUITY APPLYING DISTRIBUTION FORMULA.

MS. LEA:  If it is of assistance, Staff looked at the consensus forecasts for April.  We found the three‑month consensus forecast to be 4.1, the 12-month forecast to be 4.4.  So the difference is 0.5.


And when we did the mathematical calculation, the number we ended up with was 8.45, but we're not witnesses, so we would like you to do the calculation, please.


MR. ROGERS:  You sounded like a witness.


MS. LEA:  I'm trying to be helpful.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's be clear.  So we would like the calculation using the same factors --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  -- the numerical factors that are in the distribution methodology.  You may make whatever notes you like about whether you think that those factors are appropriate, or not, but do the calculation.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, we will.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I had a couple of questions on the revenue difference deferral account.


When we look at Exhibit 7.1, L7.1, which you gave us, on page 3 you use the word "volume" in several places.  Is that always forecast volumes here?


MR. INNIS:  Just looking at the formula here -- just let me go through this.  That would be the forecast volume that we're using.


MS. LEA:  In each case where the word "volume" appears?


MR. INNIS:  Just let me check, please.  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So it's consistently forecast volumes?  I see you nodding, sir.  That's correct?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, you are correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And it doesn't matter which option we choose on page 4; the proposal is to use forecast volumes?


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And this account, it will be embedded in rates.  Do I understand correctly that it would then have to be removed in whatever adjustment we make for 2009, whether by way of an adjustment mechanism or a full cost of service hearing?  It will be fully collected by the end of 2008?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that would be fully collected by 2008.  Let me just confer with my colleague about the revenue adjustment mechanism, how that would impact.  


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  


[Witness panel confers]  


DR. PORAY:  The adjustment model would adjust the costs, the OM&A and capital costs, and it would not adjust for this, for the RDDA.  


MS. LEA:  When you say it would not adjust for it, would it be taken out of rates?  


DR. PORAY:  It is our understanding it would be done by then.  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  All I'm trying to say, sir -- I agree with you; it would be fully collected by then.  So we don't want the rates to continue to collect that amount?  


Does whatever mechanism you are proposing take that into account?  


DR. PORAY:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Turning to a few questions on the Ontario Energy Board costs account.  I would like you to refer back -- although you don't have to turn it up, but to the decision in this hearing on the settlement proposal.  So the decision in this hearing on the settlement proposal, which was rendered on April 18th, 2007.  I'm looking at the last page of that decision, and I'm paraphrasing a bit.  


The Board in that decision said that Hydro One should provide evidence in this hearing as to why it would be appropriate for the company to recover these costs given that the company did not apply to the Board for a deferral account at the time the costs were being incurred.  


You will recall that the settlement proposal decision gave a direction of that type?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I recall that.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And in response to that direction, then, you provided a letter dated April 20th, 2007, a two-page letter with a one-page attachment.  Am I correct?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct. 


MS. LEA:  Mr. Rogers, has that been made an exhibit?  I don't have an exhibit number for it myself but I didn't know if it had been filed as something.  


MR. ROGERS:  You know, I don't believe it has been entered in evidence.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Then we will do that now, if you please.  I did bring extra copies.  We will assign it Exhibit number L7.4.  


EXHIBIT NO. L7.4:  Letter dated April 20, 2007 FROM 


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS TO THE BOARD

MS. LEA:  And that is the letter of April 20th, 2007 from Hydro One Networks.  


So this letter is the response to the Board's direction to provide evidence in this hearing?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it is. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  One moment.  


So perhaps it would be of assistance if you just briefly explain now why you believe it is appropriate for the company to recover the requested amounts, given the lack of an application for a deferral account, sir.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I can explain.  On December 20th, 2004, Hydro One received a letter from the OEB allowing the establishment of a deferral account to track the difference between OEB cost assessments and what would be in rates for distribution.  


And based on the principle in that letter, Hydro One Transmission also established an account to track the same difference that we were experiencing on the transmission side between what was in rates and what the OEB assessment was.  


And based on that, the letter that was just entered into evidence, December 22nd, 2004, we wrote to the Board that we would be also including that.  We said:  We anticipate that Hydro One transmission business will also implement similar accounts and practices at the same time.  


Subsequent to that, in our annual reporting filing to the Board and each quarter subsequent to December 2004, we have reported this value to the Board on a quarterly basis.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  


To look at that answer a little bit.  So the letter of December 20th, 2004, from the Board was addressed to all electricity local distribution companies.  Is that the letter you're referring to?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. LEA:  All right.  So it was not addressed to transmission, but you extrapolated the same principle to transmission.  Do I understand you correctly?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, we did. 


MS. LEA:  You said you established an account.  Did you have account 1508 in existence prior to December 22nd, 2004?  


MR. INNIS:  Account 1508 is a general or miscellaneous account.  So that would be in existence.  In our general ledger, at the end of 2004, we set up a subaccount to track the value for the transmission deferral account.  


MS. LEA:  Those amounts were then reported to the OEB as account 1508.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  That pyramids up into account 1508. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And why did you decide, sir, to adopt the direction to distribution companies?  Why did you decide to adopt it for the transmission company, without making an application for the account?  


MR. INNIS:  We believe that the December 20th, 2004 letter was sufficient.  Typically our practice has been to, when there is a decision that impacts both transmission, distribution, we would apply a decision that is specifically for distribution where appropriate on the transmission side as well.  


For example, when we were instructed to implement as a result of a prior rate decision a certain interest rate for distribution, we took that as saying -- well, the Board would mean that we also have to apply that for transmission, even though the Board was silent on that.  


So what we have done is applied principles learned on distribution that, where appropriate, reflect those in transmission, to keep ourselves in line.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  


Perhaps I don't understand your answer.  Could you please turn to interrogatory J-1-151, please.  J-1-151.  While you are at it, you might -- that interrogatory refers also to J-1-68.  So you might want to pull them both up at the same time.  So that is J-1-151 and J-1-68.  


In Exhibit J-1-151, there appears to be discussion here of a methodology to prescribe an interest rate for deferral and variance account for natural gas and electricity LDC including Hydro One Distribution.  


And you were asked whether you were going to implement that Board-prescribed interest rate for transmission, and your answer appears to be, in 151: 

"The interest methodology and rates issued by the Board on November 28th, 2006 did not provide direction with respect to transmission."  


So I am confused by your answer, that you adopt Board directions for distribution to apply to transmission.  Because apparently that is not the case, according to interrogatory 151.  Can you help me, sir?  


MR. INNIS:  Certainly, I can help.  The timing of this decision, we had submitted evidence in September, 2006 prior to any directed interest rate change by the Board.  


You will see in our response to J-1-151, part B, we say:  

"Hydro One Transmission will implement the prescribed interest rate on the date expected to be provided by the Board, as part of their decision on this proceeding."  


So what we are saying is, we had information and evidence before we had knowledge of an interest rate change by the Board, and certainly we will reflect the Board-approved rates in the calculation of these amounts.


MS. LEA:  So the answer that the reason that you did not adopt it was because it did not provide direction with respect to transmission is not the answer, or not a complete answer.


It appears to be, from your evidence today, a timing difference?


MR. INNIS:  It's not a complete answer.  We were aware that we had this proceeding before the Board, and we did not change the rate of interest to reflect that.  The evidence was already submitted, and we fully intend to comply with the prescribed interest rate.


MS. LEA:  Let's have a look at the interrogatory you referred to.  That's J‑1-68.  Is this also a timing problem, sir?


MR. INNIS:  That would be part of the same issue that I just discussed, with our evidence being submitted prior to the direction of interest rates coming from the Board in November.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I don't want to get into too much detail, but it looks, from your part (b) of your answer, that you don't intend to implement this.  You don't say that you're going to implement it as part of the Board ‑‑ after the Board makes its decision here.  It appears that you're saying since it doesn't apply to transmission, implementation is not applicable.  Do I misunderstand the answer?


MR. INNIS:  I believe if you take the direct interpretation of the sentence, your understanding is correct.  However, that is not our intent.  Our intent is more specifically related to how we respond in J‑1-151, where we will follow the stated direction of the Board, and this was a timing difference between the two.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So I need to apply the answer in part (b) of J-1-151 to part (b) of J‑1-68?


MR. INNIS:  They are answering a similar question, and J‑1-151 is certainly closer to what our intention is associated with this hearing.  It is a more clear description of what we intend to do.


MS. LEA:  I'll tell you the concern that I wanted to address with these references, sir, was that you're being selective.  Is it possible that you are being selective with adopting those measures that are applicable to transmission which assist Hydro One and not being as keen to adopt those measures which would, for example, lower interest rates?


MR. INNIS:  No, certainly not.  I would not agree with that.  We're trying to follow the Board's direction as best we can, and this is simply a timing difference.


We don't take a look at what the outcome is and then make a decision in our favour.  That is not what we do.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir, for your answers.  I understand your position.


I have a few questions remaining on earnings sharing, as well.  


Mr. DeVellis spoke to you about the exclusions that you propose to make to the earnings sharing account, and he talked to you a bit about expenses.  I just wanted to get clear.  Did you identify any expenses for 2006 that should be excluded from the calculation of the earnings sharing amount, any expenses rather than income items?


MR. INNIS:  Just give me a moment, please.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  We did identify four expenses ‑‑ four items that we took the expense in 2006.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Are you proposing to remove those amounts from the earnings sharing?


MR. INNIS:  No, we're not, because they were more than offset by other adjustments that would have gone the other way.


In total, those four items I just mentioned were 1.6 million.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. INNIS:  And we had adjustments going the other way of 5.3 million.  So they more than offset that, so we didn't want to get into making very small types of adjustments and so we declined to process that.  We just put two adjustments through that were more significant in nature and said -- back to your previous question, we chose not to put other adjustments through that would have put the company in a better position. 


We didn't feel it was appropriate to go through and go down to that level of detail.  Even though, from a principle point of view, we perhaps could have put them through, we chose not to.


And the other item that certainly was reflected in the net income - this is back to the discussion that we had before about the TS/DX allocation - we fully reflected the fact that approximately $10 million worth of costs shifted from transmission to distribution.  


So what that means is that OM&A in transmission in 2006 was $10 million lower than what it would have been, and we have given consideration of that in the net income being higher and flowing through to the earnings sharing mechanism.  


So we have fully reflected appropriate items.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I had a question arising out of the filing of the audited financial statements.  What date were the updates or the final ones filed?


MR. INNIS:  The audited financial statements were filed on April 20th, 2007.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.


Now, the tax provision in those audited financial statements of 2006, it does not include the impact of the payout of the earnings sharing mechanism; do I understand that correctly?


We were looking at note 5 to the statements, page 12.


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I have that.


MS. LEA:  Am I correct that ‑‑ I think, is it $12 million?  I am just going to look at the line again, with the assistance of Mr. Frost, but I think there's about a $12 million tax amount.  This is not included in the tax provision for 2006.


MR. INNIS:  This is actually the line that has that $12 million, yes.


MS. LEA:  Am I reading it right, that that tax provision is not included in ‑‑ there is no provision made for it in the 2006 taxes?


MR. INNIS:  Let me just read what that item is referring to, please.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.


MR. INNIS:  I just need to read the section before I respond.


MS. LEA:  Yes, go ahead.  Please.


MR. INNIS:  Thank you.


I can best respond to that by saying the calculation of our net income in 2006 reflects the earnings sharing.


So, in total, there was $68 million of over-earnings of which we have shared 34, per the adjustment.  So the net income that we have in 2006 reflects the portion that we have shared or intend to give back to the customer.


MS. LEA:  Perhaps I'm not making myself clear.  The expense related to the earnings sharing mechanism is not claimed for tax purposes in the 2006 year?


If this is better settled by undertaking, we can do that, sir.  I don't want to put you on the spot today.


MR. INNIS:  I would rather check with our tax people to confirm that is the case before giving an answer.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Perhaps I can tell you where I was going with this and we can craft an undertaking that is suitable.


So, first of all, is the expense for the earnings sharing mechanism claimed for tax purposes in the year 2006?  It appears to us that it is not, but that is sort of question one.


If it is not, in which year will Hydro One include that deduction in its taxes?  Could you check with your folks?


MR. INNIS:  I can do that.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So that will be, if that is acceptable to the Board, then...


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  ... Undertaking 7.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.9:  PROVIDE ANSWER TO WHETHER EXPENSE FOR EARNINGS SHARING MECHANISM IS CLAIMED FOR TAX PURPOSES IN THE YEAR 2006; IF NOT, IN WHICH YEAR HYDRO ONE WILL INCLUDE THAT DEDUCTION IN ITS TAXES

MS. LEA:  My last topic relates to the capital contribution aspect of the earnings sharing mechanism.  


As I understand it, at the time the original earnings sharing mechanism was established, Hydro One did propose that this amount, this balance, be treated as a capital contribution.  Do I understand that correctly?  

MR. INNIS:  Yes, I believe that is the case.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And the Board, in its decision, did not approve a disposition methodology of any kind.  It did not agree or disagree with that proposal.  Am I correct?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, you are.  


MS. LEA:  And now you quote the Board at page 4 of your exhibit, and that's Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 2.  And I'm just interested in some particular -- one particular aspect of that.  


You quote the Board's words and the Board mentions that the proposal would smooth future rate increases, and the Board also noted that there was no information provided in this case to conclude that such a provision is absolutely necessary at this time to offset future rate pressures.  


Do you understand that, sir?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I understand that.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So now you are bringing this proposal forward again.  Have you determined that rate pressures are created by your application?  


MR. INNIS:  Rate pressures would be of an order of magnitude.  We see this as being part of an overall package of initiatives being taken to help alleviate those rate pressures.  And so this particular case, I'm not sure if you call this pressure, the amounts are not large.  It turns out after 2006 was finished, it was only then that we knew the exact amount of the earnings to be shared.  And half of that is about the 34 million before the adjustments that we're making.  So these amounts would not typically be considered to be adding a lot to rate pressure, but it certainly helps offset some of our capital costs.  


MS. LEA:  Now, 18.7 million is not a large amount relative to the total capital expenditures you propose for 2007 and 2008.  


MR. INNIS:  Relative to the total, no, it's not.  


MS. LEA:  I'm trying to understand the relative benefit here.  I know that Mr. Buonaguro asked you quite a bit about this.  But, have you calculated the rate impact of returning this amount to ratepayers immediately in the traditional way?  Rather than doing it by way of capital contribution?  


MR. INNIS:  The rate impacts would be the shared portion that we are talking about, which is 18.7 million, and so depending on the period of time over which we were to return that, that would determine the rate impact.  


So if it's over our four-year recovery period, which is typical for deferral accounts, I would divide the 18 by 4, and get a number of just a little less than $5 million per year over those four years.  


MS. LEA:  I presume that doing -- making this distribution by the more traditional method of returning it not through capital contribution but just as a deferral account, it would, to some degree, reduce intergenerational inequities that might arise if you spin it out over a longer period.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  In theory, it would return it over a shorter period of time.  


MS. LEA:  What is it, then, that the Board should consider when weighing the benefit to ratepayers of which way this should be disposed of, as capital contribution or as regular deferral account disposition?  


MR. INNIS:  Some of the factors that the Board should consider would be smoothing out a rate increase.  If we did give the funds back over the short term, there would be a bump-up when those funds are no longer dispersible to the customers.  So it smoothes out a small bump-up in rates.  


It is one small step to help address our large capital requirements that we have identified.  And also it helps send a qualitative message to the investment community, that the Board would consider this type of allowance or capital contribution, in terms of recognition of our large capital program.  


MS. LEA:  Are there disadvantages to ratepayers in your proposal?  


MR. INNIS:  I don't believe there are significant disadvantages.  One of them would be the intergenerational equity issue that you previously described, but I believe that is -- would be relatively small and also because of the in-service date of these projects being soon, the customer would get the benefit of that relatively soon, as well.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers?  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I do.  Just one area, it has been a long day. 


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have your mike on, Mr. Rogers?  


RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Innis, I just really have one area of re-examination for you, and it has to do with the split between transmission and distribution for 2006.  


You had a discussion with Mr. Buonaguro which left me a little bit confused, to be honest.  I would like to clarify this before we leave today.  


Do you recall the discussion with him?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do. 


MR. ROGERS:  And it had to do with the application of the Rudden study and whether there was double-counting, double recovery from your ratepayers.  Do you recall that?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, you said, I believe, in your evidence to him that the Rudden study was applied in allocating the costs, both the distribution and transmission for 2006.  


MR. INNIS:  Correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  That, then, would shift some costs from transmission to distribution.  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it did.  


MR. ROGERS:  OM&A costs?  


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  And it was in the order of $10 million we estimated that amount to be.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Now, would that $10 million that was shifted from transmission to distribution have the effect of increasing transmission net earning as reported for 2006?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, it did.  It lowered OM&A and, therefore, increased transmission net earnings.  


MR. ROGERS:  So the net earnings now that we're dealing with, the sharing mechanism that you just discussed with my friend Ms. Lea, was increased because you employed the Rudden methodology to transmission?  


MR. INNIS:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  Is there any double recovery from anybody under that scenario for 2006?  


MR. INNIS:  No, there's not.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.  Just questions on three areas, panel.  First a couple of questions on the OEB cost account, the one that goes back in time; one question on the RDDA; and then some questions on the earnings sharing.  


The OEB cost account that Ms. Lea was asking you about, if I recall the evidence, your evidence, I think you estimated the balance of that account would be at the end of April, around $7.9 million.  You had filed an update at one point and it was in that area for that account.  


And that accumulated, as best I could tell, from the beginning of 2004.  It seemed that you filed this letter at the end of 2004.  You started to accumulate costs for the full year 2004 plus 2005, 2006 and three months in 2007.  


So we have 7.9 million, if that's the number, over three years and three months, and given the OM&A of the company annually, you're probably looking -- you know, a billion, one to a billion, three of OM&A for those three and a quarter years.  So this relatively small amount compared to this very large OM&A over that period.  


I wanted to ask you, entirely aside from what you stated as your desire to apply distribution techniques to the transmission business, is there any other reason why this amount, out of all of the expenses in your business over three and quarter years, was the one you deemed necessary to have a deferral account for.  What is it about this thing you decided was appropriate, given what seemed to be the relatively small size of it in relation to your OM&A?  


MR. INNIS:  This account was set up based on the principle that was allowed on the distribution side, and we did experience a significant increase in the OEB assessment costs, and those costs would not just be for 2004 onwards, but it was for -- back to 2000 onward.  In terms of the, why this account, we believe that there was sufficient authority to set up that account.  And there are, in a number of cases, where the company has foregone or has not approached the Board for coverage of increased costs or lost revenue over that time.


As an example of that, in our evidence in Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 2, we talk about two items that the company has incurred lower revenue that we have not sought recovery of that, and that is the Great Lakes Power revenue adjustment.  We shared more of our revenue with them, and the company was $13 million at the end of December 31st, 2006 -- our revenues were $13 million less because of that.  


Also transmission bypass has cost us, as well, in the order of $13.7 million.  This is detailed in Exhibit F1, tab 1, schedule 2.


So we're not asking for recovery of that.  What we would like is consideration, that the company has implemented Board decisions that have resulted in lower revenue.  We would like consideration of that when we do apply for this revenue requirement, and also when we do apply for recovery of the OEB assessment costs.


MR. RUPERT:  In a company is big and complicated as yours, I mean, over a period of some six or seven years since you were last here for a rate‑setting, it would only be by sheer fluke, I would imagine, that any single cost category would equal what you filed in the year 2000.  All kinds of things are up or down, higher or lower for a variety of reasons, inside or outside of your control.  


For example, during that period -- I believe tax rates were dropped during that period; right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, correct.


MR. RUPERT:  So I don't see a deferral account for tax rate changes being brought before us.


My point is that there are lots of ups and downs.  I'm just not sure why this particular one captured your fancy.  There are so many differences in costs and revenues that I don't understand why this one was one that you really think we should be looking at, given what, at best, is a very shaky, I will call it, application that you made.


MR. INNIS:  You are correct.  There's been a host of costs that have gone up and some costs have gone down over time.  That is quite accurate.


This one account was established because we believed there was sufficient approval and authority to do that, and we had experienced costs in some of these other areas, like transmission bypass and Great Lakes Power, where we had foregone revenue.  And this was what appeared to be, to us, an approved process for us to submit, to request this account.


MR. RUPERT:  I will move on with that one.


One quick question on the RDDA, if I can find my exhibit.  Here we are.


This is on, I guess, the third page, including the cover.  It's the formula that you have, which is the 2007 approved revenue requirements, the ten months and so on.


This is more technical, but you have used the word "volume" and "ten months" and "annual".  Your transmission rates are done monthly, based on essentially coincident or non‑coincident peak loads.  Anyway, it is peak demand as opposed to kilowatt hours; right?  You do a month-by-month calculation to calculate revenue today?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  So in the first line, where you are talking about the approved revenue requirement for 2007, which would be in millions or billions of dollars, it looks like a proration here.  I am just not sure I understand the proration you're doing in this kind of calculation, where it is not just kilowatt‑hours.  It is peak loads.


Do these forecasts in both cases ‑‑ I just don't get the calculation, I must say.


MR. INNIS:  It is forecasts in both cases.  With respect to the ten-month volume, what we would use is the monthly peak for each delivery point.  So what you see here is a summarized characterization of how we would do it.


In order to specifically work out the calculation, there would be far more details that we would need to get into.  This is more meant to -- to help out conceptually...


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.


MR. INNIS:  ...as opposed to the detailed mechanics, that we would have to be precise on our calculation.


MR. RUPERT:  Lastly, DSM.


Just on the amount, first of all, maybe I haven't been looking at the right update, but in Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 2, which is your evidence on the disposition of earnings sharing mechanism, this was updated April 20th.


On the front page of that, as well as an attachment or table 2 at the back, which has your calculation, you cover the number of -- it's called shared portion, 50 percent of $18.7 million; right?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  Then I go to the audited financial statements that Ms. Lea was just referring to, which are at Exhibit A, tab 9, schedule 1, and ‑‑ do you have them there?  Do you have the statements there?


MR. INNIS:  Yes, I do.


MR. RUPERT:  If you go first just to the balance sheet on page 5, we will just go right through the chain here.  Page 5 of the balance sheet has that line about two‑thirds of the way down under other long‑term liabilities called regulatory liability.  I'm sorry, I'm looking at the wrong year.  We have too many years here.  Sorry.


Still page 5, down under the other long‑term liabilities category.  Regulatory liabilities refers to note 7 and the balance of 84 million for 2006.


Then if we go back to note 7, which is on page 13, the detail of what makes up the regulatory liabilities is provided.  Do you see that?


MR. INNIS:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  In that table, regulatory liabilities, there is the export ruling fees, which were subject to the settlement agreement, and then transmission earnings sharing, 35 million.


Now, I took it, because this was shown as a regulatory liability here, that this must have been the portion that you were setting aside that related to the ratepayers' share of this.  It's different than 18.7 million.  


So my question is:  Is there a way to reconcile your evidence as to what the amount is to the amount that you portrayed in your audited financial statements?  Because the numbers are different to me and I can't figure out why.


MR. INNIS:  Okay, yes.  I believe I can help you with that now, if you would like me to take you through that?


MR. RUPERT:  Sure.


MR. INNIS:  If I could take you to Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 2.


MR. RUPERT:  Right.


MR. INNIS:  And there is a column there that says "Results prior to ESM".


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, yes.


MR. INNIS:  And if you go down to a line that says "Net income, 334.1".


MR. RUPERT:  Right.


MR. INNIS:  So that net income is net income before the $34 million earnings sharing calculation.  So if you look at net income on the audited financial statements, if I can take you to page 3 of the audited statements, there is net income of $300 million.  That $300 million reflects the fact that we are anticipating returning $34 million to the customer.  


So, in total, the earnings to be shared were $68 million, of which we returned 34.  So, hence, when I show you the table 2 number of 334, that is the amount of net income that is prior to ‑‑


MR. RUPERT:  I still don't get it.  Leaving aside the capital contribution route, if you had to do this refund, I will call it, back to ratepayers immediately in respect of over-earnings in 2006, how many millions of dollars would you reduce your revenue requirement by?


MR. INNIS:  We anticipate returning $18.7 million to the customer.


MR. RUPERT:  You just said 34 million, and I can't figure out 34 and 18.


MR. INNIS:  Sure.  That's fine.  If I can take you over to two columns after "Results prior to ESM", there's two adjustments, one for the tax refund, one for the OPG property tax reversal.


Following that across, and then down, in terms of using the Board's methodology for calculating the return, that's how we end up at the 17.


So we have adjusted the audited results to reflect those two changes for the tax refund and the OPG tax reversal.


MR. RUPERT:  I guess what you're saying is in the audited statements, you haven't had enough assurance to book those as income pending the outcome of this Board's decision on earnings sharing?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.


MR. RUPERT:  If the Board were to go along with your number of 18.7, you would then turned around in your audited statements, either as a retroactive adjustment or in next year's statements, and book those two items as income?


MR. INNIS:  That's correct.  We followed GAAP recognition principles for the 2006 audited statements, and because the outcome of this hearing was not determinable, that's why the liability was set up.  So you are correct.


MR. RUPERT:  And just one last question on the numbers.  We will work with 18.7.  


Now, my fiddling with the numbers, which may be wrong, is that is an after-tax number.  So if we were looking at the actual revenue requirement reduction that it would take to make the taxpayers -- ratepayers whole, we would have to go set up for taxes and get in the order of 30-odd million dollars; am I right?  


MR. INNIS:  I would have to think about that more, but I believe that you are correct.  We would return -- we planned on returning 18.7 to the customers.  We didn't flow it through the revenue requirement calculation, so that's why I would have to think about that. 


MR. RUPERT:  Can you do that, as part of this?  Just to come back, if 18.7 is the number, either confirm that is the number pre-tax or show the calculation that would indicate the actual dollar impact on ratepayers if you were to return this money back to ratepayers immediately or over a short period of time, either through the revenue requirement as opposed to a capital contribution. 


MR. INNIS:  I can do that, and can I do that over a four-year period which would be typical of our regulatory assets?  


MR. RUPERT:  I don't really care what period it is over.  Let's assume it all happens in one day.  That will make what I am kind of interested in seeing -- which is the tax effect of this.  I don't really care about the period so much as what would a ratepayer actually see immediately, or over four years in aggregate as a reduction in the transmission of charges as a result of this over-earnings.  


MR. INNIS:  Sure, we can do. 


MS. NOWINA:  Let's get an undertaking. 


MS. LEA:  K7.10.  

UNDERTAKING NO. K7.10:  If 18.7 is the number, either confirm that is the number pre-tax or show the calculation that would indicate the actual dollar impact on ratepayers if you were to return this money back to ratepayers immediately or over a short period of time, either through the revenue requirement as opposed to a capital contribution


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MR. RUPERT:  Now, moving on to those two items that you referred to and you spoke about with Ms. Lea and Mr. Buonaguro and others.  


You have referred -- Two questions, I guess.  First, as I read this decision, this is the EB-2005-0501.  I have been trying to find in the decision anything that gives you scope to depart from the audited financial statements, i.e., opens up and says use of judgment about non-recurring items and so on.  And I look at page 10, for example, which is the -- under the heading "By what mechanics should excess earnings be established?"  Again, it goes through fairly mechanically the process and doesn't seem to say, Use the audited statements, but also check for things you view as non-recurring or prior period or whatever.  


So is there anything in this decision that you have read that opens up the door to remove income from your 2006 earnings in this calculation, the way you have done it?  


MR. INNIS:  I believe there is.  On page 7, the first full paragraph, it reads:  

"The Board accepts Hydro One's proposal to use actual results from its audited financial statements as the basis for determining earnings for 2006."  


We took that to mean that's the basis, but certainly we didn't want to have blinders on when it came to appropriate adjustments similar to what were made in the Enbridge case.  So we're using the audited statements as the base for the earnings sharing.  


MR. RUPERT:  Does this decision then give you any guidance as to how far you depart from the audited statements?  If this is about how you interpret the word "basis," is there anything in here that gave the Board's thinking about how far afield you should go in searching for non-recurring items to make adjustments?  


MR. INNIS:  I don't believe there is anything in the decision that relates to that.  It was the knowledge of what's happened in other cases that we brought to bear on this.  


MR. RUPERT:  I wanted to ask you just a couple of more questions on Enbridge.  I, of course, have no knowledge until today of the Enbridge decision, so let me ask you a question.  


This is on I guess we gave it the Exhibit number L7.3.  This is on -- we talked about paragraph 38, 39, 40 and 41 earlier.  


I don't pretend to understand the background of this, but I would note that in a paragraph you quoted earlier, which is paragraph 38.  The Board panel in this case talked about submissions from SEC, CCC, IGUA and VECC and noted they took issue with the treatment that recognizes this non-recoverable receivable as a charge in 2004.  

"The submission place particular emphasis on the need in the earnings sharing calculation to differentiate between earnings for regulatory purposes and those for financial accounting and reporting purposes."  


Now, that was apparently what these four groups were submitting, that there had to be a difference between the two.  


Now, in terms of the decision that the Board made on your earnings sharing mechanism, I am just struggling to find where the Board would have endorsed, in your case, the principle there should be a difference between accounting and financial reporting earnings and earnings for regulatory purposes.  


I was struggling to find anything in here that has a difference, that even opens up the door.  Unlike the Enbridge one which appears, as I read the words, to at least have some groups out there that said the purpose was to have different calculations.  


Is there anything else other than that word "basis" in the decision that you would point to, to say the Board had in mind a different number than your audited net income?  


MR. INNIS:  We certainly key in on the word "base" and believe that these adjustments are reasonable.  In terms of what the Board had in mind, I don't know.  But we believe the adjustments that we put forward are appropriate and reasonable.  


MR. RUPERT:  Okay, I will leave it there.  Thanks.  


MS. NOWINA:  Just one question, Mr. Innis.  


Going back to the Rudden study.  Maybe you can help me with what is very simple math here, but I may be missing something.  


So using your number, you said that the Rudden study established there was, in 2006, there were $10 million of costs which were transferred from transmission to distribution.  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MS. NOWINA:  That's correct.  And those $10 million of costs, because we had new distribution rates for 2006, were included in distribution rates and paid for by the ratepayers.  Is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  They would be in the distribution rates, that is correct.  


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  So we have $!0 million there.  $10 million of real costs.  


Now, on the transmission side, there have been no balancing change to transmission rates.  So what we have is $10 million of over-earnings, if you like.  Or increase in net earnings.  


MR. INNIS:  As a result of $10 million being transferred from transmission to distribution that otherwise would not have been done -- 


MS. NOWINA:  Yes. 


MR. INNIS:  -- there was an increase in net income in transmission, correct. 


MS. NOWINA:  Of $10 million?  Right.  Thank you.  


Now, because of the earnings sharing mechanism, 5 million of that, those dollars go back to ratepayers in the transmission case; is that correct?  


MR. INNIS:  That is correct.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So now we have $5 million that go to the shareholders.  So the shareholders of the company, let's the corporate level, had $10 million of costs fully recovered through distribution rates.  They have $5 million of addition to net income.  And yet you don't think that's double-counting?  


So can you explain to me what the rationale is for the company to receive that $5 million in 2006.  


MR. INNIS:  Just two points.  The five million would be before tax.  So after tax, the amount would be three -- three million and a little bit.  So the amount is certainly in the order of three million.  


In terms of why it's not appropriate to adjust, we believe that we've fully reflected that transfer from transmission to distribution.  We believe that the percentage, or how we did that calculation in the first place, had to use 2005 methodology and apply to 2006.  So there are some -- it's very difficult to know what the precise number would have been.  And also, it's not possible to know what was in the transmission costs for 2006 that would have been in rates set back in 2000.  So there is a difficulty with the methodology and the estimate and the assumption, and that's why we have reflected the full transfer over, but we can't get any more precise than that.  


MS. NOWINA:  I'm really trying to understand, Mr. Innis, and it's late, and I am sure that you feel it is late as well.  And perhaps I'm looking at it too simplistically.  But transmission rates had not been reset.  So there was an understanding, with transmission rates not being reset, that the transmission company was recouping its appropriate costs until, in the distribution case, Hydro One asked for this adjustment to be made which increased distribution rates.  


So I am trying to understand.  So you say that this adjustment is made on the basis of 2005 costs.  So you mean the Rudden study was done on the basis of 2005 costs?  Is that what you mean?  


MR. INNIS:  What I mean is in the undertaking that we provided a response to, we estimated the costs allocated to transmission in 2005, and we applied that to 2006.


So it is a pre-Rudden estimate.  If we would have not had Rudden in 2006, that number would have been different again and we don't know what that number would be.


My colleague would like to discuss something with me, and I could perhaps be more helpful.  Just a minute, please.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thanks.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. INNIS:  I'm sorry, I can't provide further clarification based on that discussion.


[Laughter]


MR. INNIS:  But I will try my best to explain this.  When transmission rates were struck back in 2000 or for 2000, there would have been an estimate made of common costs for transmission.


Over time, with business model changes and other organizational changes, we don't know the dollar value of what was in rates in 2000.  We don't know what the equivalent is in 2006.  We've done a rough approximation on this undertaking, but it is not the specific amount.


So using this undertaking as a basis, that's how we determined that the best we could see is about $10 million being shifted from transmission to distribution, and we've given value for what we believe was our best estimate, but we realize it is just an estimate and it doesn't really have a direct bearing on what indeed would have been in transmission rates in 2000.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I accept that, that the $10 million is you know, is an approximation and it is the best you can do.  I also accept that 50 percent of that on an after-tax basis is not a terribly material amount.  


But I am a little concerned with the principle of the thing, that we're not understanding each other on the principle.  So if I am missing it, I would like to understand that.  So that is my point.  


If we assume ‑‑ let's assume that transmission rates in 2006 were absolutely accurate; no one had come in for a change to those, so let's assume that they were accurate, except we know the cost moved from transmission to distribution.


If we made that assumption, does it make sense for the net income of the company, for the shareholder to receive the increase in net income due to the transfer of costs to distribution?


MR. INNIS:  I believe there is a lot of assumptions in there, but isolating the ‑‑ saying you would know with certainty that that would have been in there in 2006, then that adjustment would be appropriate to make.


MS. NOWINA:  But there is no other basis?  We don't have a rationale for making it other than that, do we?


MR. INNIS:  This is the best assessment that we have of what was in transmission rates, and what I'm saying is that we can't precisely know what was in transmission rates.  This is our best effort to determine that.


MS. NOWINA:  So if we can't precisely know, then the benefit of the doubt should go to the shareholder?  


MR. INNIS:  We're sharing the ‑‑ this 50/50 through the earnings sharing calculation.  We would certainly like to be fair, and we are subject to the decisions of the Board in this matter.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  If I could ‑‑ let me take it under advisement.  I think I understand this issue better now than I did at the start of the day.


If I could, I will let you know the company's position once I have had a chance to take some instructions about that.  Would that be all right?


MS. NOWINA:  I would welcome any enlightenment on it, Mr. Rogers.  Thank you.


Thank you, panel.  You have had a long time here.  I keep thinking you are finished, but you never are.  So thank you very much.  You are dismissed now. 


We will adjourn to meet tomorrow morning at 9:30 to begin with the Hydro One's witness for cost of capital.


‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:47 p.m.
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